United States Environmental Protection Agency EPA 822-R-03-026 November 2003

EPA 2003 DRAFT UPDATE OF AMBIENT WATER QUALITY CRITERIA FOR COPPER

2003 UPDATE OF AMBIENT WATER QUALITY CRITERIA FOR COPPER

(CAS Registry Number 7440-50-8)

November 2003

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Office of Water Office of Science and Technology Washington, DC

NOTICES

This document has been reviewed by the Health and Ecological Criteria Division, Office of Science and Technology, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, and approved for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Document Update: 2003

Cindy Roberts (document coordinator and contributor) U.S. EPA Health and Ecological Effects Criteria Division Washington, DC

Mary Reiley (contributor) U.S. EPA Health and Ecological Effects Criteria Division Washington, DC

Robert Santore (contributor) HydroQual, Inc. Syracuse, New York

Paul Paquin (contributor) HydroQual, Inc. Syracuse, New York

Gary Chapman (contributor) Great Lakes Environmental Center Columbus, Ohio Jennifer Mitchell (contributor) U.S. EPA (formerly) Health and Ecological Effects Criteria Division Washington, DC

Charles Delos (contributor) U.S. EPA Health and Ecological Effects Criteria Division Washington, DC

Joseph Meyer (contributor) University of Wyoming Laramie, Wyoming

Rooni Mathew (contributor) HydroQual, Inc. Syracuse, New York

Tyler K. Linton (contributor) Great Lakes Environmental Center Columbus, Ohio

Statistical Support and Contributor:

Russell Erickson Office of Research and Development Environmental Research Laboratory Duluth, Minnesota

CONTENTS

Not	Noticesii					
1 101						
1.0	INTRODUCTION					
	1.1 Background					
	1.2 Copper in the Environment					
	1.3 Update of Copper Criteria with the Biotic Ligand Model 1					
	1.4 Copper Criteria Document Information 2					
2.0	THE CONCEPT OF BIOAVAILABILITY AND REGULATORY					
	APPROACHES FOR COPPER 2					
	2.1 Empirical Models Relating Water Chemistry to Toxicity					
	2.2 Mechanistic Models—Relating Water Chemistry to Toxicity					
3.0	INCORPORATION OF BLM INTO CRITERIA DEVELOPMENT PROCEDURES 7					
	3.1 Implications for Criteria—Criteria Calculations					
	3.2 BLM Input Parameters 7					
	3.3 Model Prediction Modes					
	3.4 Data Acceptability and Screening Procedures					
	3.5 Estimation of Test Water Chemistry					
	3.6 Water Chemistry Data Acquisition					
	3.7 Ranking of Quality of Test Chemistry Characterization					
	3.8 Criteria Computations 10					
4.0	CONVERSION FACTORS					
5.0	DATA SUMMARY AND CRITERIA CALCULATION					
	5.1 Summary of Acute Toxicity to Freshwater Animals and Criteria Calculation 11					
	5.1.1 Comparison with Hardness-Adjusted Values					
	5.2 Summary of Acute Toxicity to Saltwater Animals and Criteria Calculation 16					
	5.3 Formulation of the CCC 17					
	5.3.1 Statistical Evaluation of Chronic Toxicity Data 17					
	5.3.2 Calculation of Freshwater CCC 19					
	5.3.3 Evaluation of the Chronic Data Available for Saltwater Species					
6.0	PLANT DATA					
7.0	BIOACCUMULATION OF COPPER					
8.0	OTHER DATA 23					
9.0	NATIONAL CRITERIA STATEMENT					
10.0	IMPLEMENTATION 24					
11.0	REFERENCES					

FIGURES

Figure 1.	Conceptual Diagram of Copper Speciation and Copper-Gill Model	5
Figure 2.	Comparison of Predicted and Measured Acute Copper Toxicity to P. promelas	6
Figure 3.	Quality Scale for <i>D. magna</i> BLM Input Data	12
Figure 4.	Ranges and Distribution of Normalized LC50 Values for Species Listed in Table 1	13
Figure 5.	Ranked Freshwater Genus Mean Acute Values (GMAVs)	14
Figure 6.	Comparison of Existing Hardness Based WQC and BLM Based WQC in	
	Synthetic Laboratory Water and EPA Standard Recipe Water for DOC = 2.3 mg/L	15
Figure 7.	Ranked Saltwater Genus Mean Acute Values (GMAVs)	18
Figure 8.	Relationship Between Freshwater Acute Copper Sensitivity (LC50 or EC50)	
	and Acute-Chronic Ratios	20

TABLES

Table 1a. Acute Toxicity of Copper to Freshwater Animals 2	26
Table 1b. Acute Toxicity of Copper to Saltwater Animals	36
Table 2a. Chronic Toxicity of Copper to Freshwater Animals 4	42
Table 2b. Chronic Toxicity of Copper to Saltwater Animals 4	44
Table 2c. Acute-Chronic Ratios 4	45
Table 3a. Ranked Freshwater Genus Mean Acute Values	
with Species Mean Acute-Chronic Ratios	46
Table 3b. Ranked Saltwater Genus Mean Acute Values	
with Species Mean Acute-Chronic Ratios	47
Table 3c. Freshwater and Saltwater Final Acute Value (FAV) and Criteria Calculations	49
Table 4a. Toxicity of Copper to Freshwater Plants 4	50
Table 4b. Toxicity of Copper to Saltwater Plants 4	53
Table 5a. Bioaccumulation of Copper by Freshwater Organisms	55
Table 5b. Bioaccumulation of Copper by Saltwater Organisms	56
Table 6. Species Numbers Used in Figure 4	57

APPENDICES

Appendix A.	Ranges in Calibration and Application Data Sets	A-1
Appendix B.	Biotic Ligand Model (BLM) User's Guide	B-1
Appendix C.	Other Data on Effects of Copper on Freshwater	
	and Saltwater Organisms	C-1
Appendix D.	Estimation of Water Chemistry Parameters for Acute Copper Toxicity Tests	D-1
Appendix E.	Saltwater Conversion Factors for Dissolved Values	E-1
Appendix F.	BLM Input Data and Notes	F-1
Appendix G.	Hardness Slopes	G-1
Appendix H.	Regression Plots	H-1
Appendix I.	Unused Data	I-1

ACRONYMS

ACR	Acute-Chronic Ratio
BL	Biotic Ligand
BLM	Biotic Ligand Model
CCC	Criterion Continuous Concentration
CF	Conversion Factors
CHESS	Chemical Equilibria in Soils and Solutions
CMC	Criterion Maximum Concentration
CWA	Clean Water Act
DIC	Dissolved Inorganic Carbon
DOC	Dissolved Organic Carbon
DOM	Dissolved Organic Matter
ELS	Early Life Stage
EPA	Environmental Protection Agency
FACR	Final Acute-Chronic Ratio
FAV	Final Acute Value OR Final Accumulation Value
FCV	Final Chronic Value
FIAM	Free Ion Activity Model
GMAV	Genus Mean Acute Value
GSIM	Gill Surface Interaction Model
HA	Humic Acid
LA50	Lethal Level of Accumulation at 50 Percent Effect Level
LOAEC	Lowest Observed Adverse Effect Concentration
Me:BL	Metal-Biotic Ligand Complex
MSE	Mean Square Error
NASQAN	National Stream Quality Accounting Network
NOAEC	No Observed Adverse Effect Concentration
NOM	Natural Organic Matter
PLC	Partial Life-Cycle
SMAV	Species Mean Acute Values
TSS	Total Suspended Solids
WER	Water-Effect Ratio
WET	Whole Effluent Toxicity
WHAM	Windermere Humic Aqueous Model

WQC Water Quality Criteria

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

Over the past 20 years the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has published a number of guidance documents containing aquatic life criteria recommendations for copper (e.g., U.S. EPA 1980, 1985, 1986, 1996). The present document contains EPA's latest criteria recommendations for protection of aquatic life in ambient water from acute and chronic toxic effects from copper. These criteria are based on the latest available scientific information and supersede EPA's previously published recommendations for copper.

This document provides updated guidance to States and authorized Tribes to establish water quality standards under the Clean Water Act (CWA) to protect aquatic life from copper. Under the CWA, States and authorized Tribes are to establish water quality criteria to protect designated uses. Although this document constitutes EPA's scientific recommendations regarding ambient concentrations of copper, it does not substitute for the CWA or EPA's regulations, nor is it a regulation itself. Thus, it cannot impose legally binding requirements on EPA, States, Tribes, or the regulated community, and might not apply to a particular situation based on the circumstances. State and Tribal decisionmakers retain the discretion in adopting approaches, on a case-by-case basis, that differ from this guidance when appropriate. EPA may change this guidance in the future.

1.2 Copper in the Environment

Copper is an abundant trace element found in the earth's crust and is also a naturally occurring element that is generally present in surface waters (Nriagu 1979). Copper is a micronutrient for both plants and animals at low concentrations; however, it may become toxic to some forms of aquatic life at elevated concentrations. Thus, copper concentrations in natural environments, and its biological availability, are important. Naturally occurring concentrations of copper have been reported from 0.03 to 0.23 μ g/L in surface seawaters and from 0.2 to 30 μ g/L in freshwater systems (Bowen 1985). Copper concentrations in locations receiving anthropogenic inputs such as mine tailing discharges can vary anywhere from natural background to 100 μ g/L (Hem 1989; Lopez and Lee 1977) and have in some cases been reported in the 200,000 μ g/L range in mining areas (Davis and Ashenberg 1989; Robins et al. 1997). Mining, leather and leather products, fabricated metal products, and electric equipment are a few of the industries with copper-bearing discharges that contribute to anthropogenic inputs of copper to surface waters (Patterson et al. 1998).

1.3 Update of Copper Criteria with the Biotic Ligand Model

The freshwater criteria in this document differ from EPA's previous metals criteria primarily with regard to how metal availability to organisms is addressed. Previous criteria were based on empirical relationships of toxicity to water hardness. These criteria combine the effects of various water quality variables correlated with hardness. Such criteria are most applicable to waters where these correlations were similar to the data set used to derive the relationships. The criteria presented here instead use the biotic ligand model (BLM) (Di Toro et al. 2001). The BLM is based on the premise that toxicity is related to metal bound to a biochemical site (the biotic ligand) and that binding is related to total dissolved metal concentrations and complexing ligands in the water. The complexing ligands compete with the biotic ligand for metals and other cations in the water. Unlike the empirical harness relationships, the BLM explicitly accounts for individual water quality variables, is not linked to a particular correlation among these variables, and can address variables that were not a factor in the hardness relationship.

1.4 Copper Criteria Document Information

Although the new BLM model has now been adopted for use in place of the formerly applied hardness-based approach the updated freshwater criteria derivations in this document are still based on the principles set forth in the 1985 Guidelines (or Guidelines, Stephan et al. 1985). Therefore, it is useful to have some understanding of how the Guidelines are ordinarily applied: (1) Acute toxicity test data must be available for species from a minimum of eight genera with a minimum required taxonomic diversity. The diversity of tested species is intended to ensure protection of various components of an aquatic ecosystem. (2) The final acute value (FAV) is an estimate of the fifth percentile of a sensitivity distribution represented by the average LC50s and EC50s, the Genus Mean Acute Values (GMAVs), of the tested genera. The criterion maximum concentration (CMC) is set to one-half of the FAV to correspond to a lower level of effect than the LC50s/EC50s used to derive the FAV. (3) Chronic toxicity test data (longer term survival, growth, or reproduction) must be available for at least three taxa to derive a final chronic value (FCV). A criterion continuous concentration (CCC) can be established from an FCV calculated similarly to an FAV, if chronic toxicity data are available for eight genera with a minimum required taxonomic diversity; or most often the chronic criterion is set by determining an appropriate acute-chronic ratio (ACR) (the ratio of acutely toxic concentrations to the chronically toxic concentrations) and applying that ratio to the FAV. (4) When necessary, the acute and/or chronic criterion may be lowered to protect recreationally or commercially important species.

The body of this document contains information on acute and chronic toxicity of copper relevant to the derivation of the freshwater and saltwater acute and chronic criteria. It also includes information on the effects of water quality parameters on bioavailability and toxicity of copper as well as some BLM development information. Additional information on the generalized BLM framework, theoretical background, model calibration, and application can be found in the Technical Support Document for the BLM or in the published literature. The data that were reviewed and not used to derive the criteria and other supporting information are also provided in tables and appendices.

2.0 THE CONCEPT OF BIOAVAILABILITY AND REGULATORY APPROACHES FOR COPPER

Copper occurs in natural waters primarily as Cu (II) predominately in complexed form. Free Cu may be present, but is generally a minor species (Stumm and Morgan 1981). Copper reacts with both inorganic and organic chemicals in solution and in suspension, resulting in a multitude of chemical forms. Because the cupric ion is highly reactive, it forms moderate to strongly complexed solutes and precipitates with many inorganic and organic constituents of natural waters (e.g., carbonate, phosphate, and organic materials) and is readily sorbed onto surfaces of suspended solids. Even though it is present in water in many forms, the toxicity of copper to aquatic life has been shown to be related primarily to activity of the cupric ion, and possibly to some of the hydroxy complexes (Allen and Hansen 1996; Andrew 1976; Andrew et al. 1977; Borgmann and Ralph 1983; Chakoumakos et al. 1979; Chapman and McCrady 1977; Dodge and Theis 1979; Howarth and Sprague 1978; Pagenkopf 1983; Petersen 1982; Rueter 1983). Many examples of this classic response of organisms to cupric ion activity, as well as some limited exceptions, are reviewed by Campbell (1995). A formal description of these metal-organism interactions, now commonly referred to as the Free Ion Activity Model (FIAM), was first provided by Morel (1983). Pagenkopf (1983) using a similar approach applied the Gill Surface Interaction Model (GSIM) to predict metal effect levels over a range of water quality characteristics.

Based on the mechanistic principles underlying the BLM, the following general trends of copper toxicity are expected because individual water quality parameters and their combinations are varied among exposure waters. Any changes in water quality that would be expected to decrease the activity of

the free copper ion would be expected to decrease the bioavailability of copper. For example, increases in pH, increases in alkalinity, and increases in natural organic matter would all tend to decrease copper bioavailability and would therefore tend to be associated with increased copper LC50 values. Metal bioavailability may also be modified by competitive interactions at the biotic ligand. Increased concentrations of sodium and calcium, for example, can result in reduced binding of copper to physiologically active gill binding sites and can thereby reduce copper bioavailability. Competition with protons is included in the copper model and could result in lower bioavailability at low pH. But these effects occur at relatively lower pH values than are typically used in toxicity tests and, as a result, the primary effect of changing pH is to decrease bioavailability at high pH. Cation competition also has an effect on complexation of Cu by natural organic matter (NOM), and this interaction will to some degree offset competitive interactions that occur at the gill or other sites of action of toxicity.

Historically, aqueous discharges of metals have been regulated based on concentrations of total metal—usually measured as the concentration of total recoverable metal (i.e., the sum of the dissolved metal and the metal that can be liberated from solids during extraction in hot, dilute mineral acid). This regulatory approach was the basis for previous EPA water quality criteria for copper. In 1993, EPA altered the traditional regulatory approach for protection of aquatic life to account for the influence of suspended solids on metal toxicity. EPA authorized States to regulate discharges based on dissolved metal concentration instead of total recoverable metal concentration (Prothro 1993). This change was an attempt to incorporate into the regulatory process the notion that the concentration of dissolved metal better approximates the toxic fraction than does the concentration of total metal (i.e., the presence of suspended solids tends to decrease metal toxicity; see review by Meyer et al. 2002). Nevertheless, a regulatory approach based solely on the concentration of dissolved metal did not address concerns that other water quality parameters besides total suspended solids (TSS) concentration alter metal toxicity.

EPA has already incorporated linear regression equations into criteria calculation procedures to account for decreases of acute and chronic toxicity of copper to freshwater organisms as water hardness increases. However, these regression equations account for other parameters that vary in addition to hardness (at least among some of the data) but do not explicitly account for effects of these other water quality parameters on toxicity.

In response to concerns that the metal criteria did not provide a mechanism to account for the modifying effects of water quality parameters other than hardness on metal toxicity, EPA issued guidance in the early 1980s on the use of a water-effect ratio (WER) method (Carlson et al. 1984; U.S. EPA 1983, 1992, 1994). The WER is "a biological method to compare bioavailability and toxicity in receiving waters versus laboratory test waters" (U.S. EPA 1992). Extensive guidance has been developed on how to evaluate a WER (U.S. EPA 1994). The essence of the approach is as follows. The WER is calculated by dividing the acute LC50 of the metal, determined in water collected from the receiving water of interest, by the LC50 of the metal determined in a standard laboratory water, after adjusting both test waters to the same hardness. The national hardness-based acute criterion concentration is then multiplied by this ratio (i.e., the WER) to establish a site-specific criterion that reflects the effect of site water characteristics on toxicity.

However, a WER accounts only for interactions of water quality parameters and their effects on metal toxicity to the species tested, in the water sample collected at a specific location and at a specific time. Although the WER approach remains an important component in establishing site-specific variations to ambient water quality criteria for metals, a complementary approach is needed that (1) explicitly accounts for water quality parameters that modify metal toxicity and (2) can be applied more frequently across spatial and temporal scales.

Because of the influence of water quality parameters such as pH, alkalinity, and organic matter on the formation of compounds that affect the amount of cupric ion present, not all of the copper in the water column contributes directly to toxicity. In other words, not all of the copper appears to be bioavailable. Although the term "bioavailability" eludes a consensus definition (Dickson et al. 1994), in the context of this document it is used to convey the general concept that total Cu (or, more generally, the total concentration of any metal in an exposure water) is not a good predictor of toxicity (Campbell 1995; Meyer 2002; Morel 1983). This concept has led to research and regulatory activity to develop better ways to predict metal toxicity and regulate aqueous discharges (Bergman and Dorward-King 1997; Di Toro et al. 2001; Hamelink et al. 1994; Morel 1983).

2.1 Empirical Models Relating Water Chemistry to Toxicity

Early copper criteria documents (U.S. EPA 1980, 1985, 1996) incorporated linear regression equations into the criterion-calculation procedure to account for attenuation of acute and chronic toxicity of copper to freshwater biota as water hardness increases. Previously though, the only parameter with enough useful data to provide an acceptable predictive capability of copper toxicity was hardness. Temperature ranges were not sufficiently wide with most species, pH values were often not reported or were highly variable, and alkalinity and dissolved organic carbon (DOC) were rarely reported. As a result, criteria for copper, and those for several other metals, were established as functions of water hardness. These equations were determined from meta-analyses in which variables other than hardness varied among at least some of the data sets that were used. Therefore, the regression coefficients for hardness did not only reflect how hardness affected copper toxicity; additionally, hardness was a surrogate for other co-varying water quality parameters not explicitly included in the regression analyses. Moreover, these criteria did not include methods to explicitly account for modifying effects of other water quality parameters when those parameters varied and hardness did not.

An alternate approach that has been proposed to predict metal toxicity is to (1) identify the bioavailable fraction of the metal; (2) analyze or calculate the concentration(s) of the bioavailable form(s) in the exposure water; and (3) predict the toxicity based on an empirical relationship between the biological response and the concentration(s) of the bioavailable form(s). According to this approach, only direct measurement of the concentration of the free metal ion or calculation of its concentration (using a geochemical-speciation model) is needed. Supporting this bioavailable-fraction approach, the concentration of cupric ion is a constant predictor of acute toxicity even in the presence of varying levels of inorganic or organic ligands, which complex copper and alter the cupric ion concentration (i.e., the cupric ion LC50 remains constant even though the concentrations of the ligands differ considerably in different exposure waters) (e.g., Borgmann 1983; Santore et al. 2001). However, this approach is not correct when other cations in the water can interact with the biota. For example, the LC50 of Cu²⁺ increases significantly as the concentration of Ca²⁺ (a major component of water hardness) is increased (Meyer et al. 1999). Thus, the concentration of cupric ion alone is not always sufficient to predict toxicity.

More generally, there is no universally constant bioavailable fraction of a metal that can be identified by chemical analyses (Meyer et al. 2002). The interactions among the abiotic components in the exposure water are important to consider, as well as the interactions of those components with the biota. Hence, although the simple concept of predicting metal toxicity based on the chemical analysis of a bioavailable fraction is qualitatively appealing, in practice, it is quantitatively elusive (Meyer 2002). Instead, the complex interactions of Cu^{2+} with dissolved components, suspended particles, and the biota must be simultaneously considered in order to accurately predict copper toxicity (see Mechanistic Models section).

2.2 Mechanistic Models—Relating Water Chemistry to Toxicity

Although the current water quality criteria for several metals, including copper, are hardnessdependent, it has long been recognized that many other factors affect copper toxicity. The chemical speciation of copper in natural waters and the explanatory power of the free copper ion in determining copper toxicity were first recognized more than 30 years ago (Anderson and Morel 1978; Sunda and Gillespie 1979; Sunda and Guillard 1976; Sunda and Lewis 1978; Zitko et al. 1973). These concepts were eventually formalized in models that linked metal chemistry and biological effects including the gill surface interaction model (GSIM) (Pagenkopf 1983) and the free ion activity model (FIAM) (Morel 1983). Playle and others demonstrated that copper binding to fish gills can be modeled using a chemical speciation approach (Playle et al. 1993a, b). Recently, MacRae and others demonstrated that copper accumulation at the gill shows a dose-response relationship with mortality (MacRae et al. 1999). A more comprehensive review of these historical developments is presented in Paquin et al. (2002).

Although early models showed remarkable utility, several critical issues remained. A considerable amount of information about speciation of metals in the environment has become available and computing techniques have been developed to simulate metal speciation (Nordstrom et al. 1979). Still, the interactions of metals with natural organic matter remained a topic of intense research and debate for the next few decades. Until recently, few available models could predict metal chemistry in the presence of natural organic matter over a range of environmental conditions.

The biotic ligand model is a recent attempt to develop a metal bioavailability model based on the latest chemical and physiological effects information of metals in aquatic environments (Di Toro et al. 2001; Paquin et al. 1999; Santore et al. 2001). The approach was presented to EPA's Science Advisory Board during 1999 and it received a generally favorable response (U.S. EPA 1999, 2000). Like the FIAM and GSIM, the BLM is based on a description of the chemical speciation of metals in aqueous systems (Figure 1). Chemical speciation is simulated as an equilibrium system that includes complexation of inorganic ions and NOM. The chemical system is simulated by the chemical equilibria in soils and solutions (CHESS) model (Santore and Driscoll 1995), including a description of metal interactions with NOM based on the Windermere humic aqueous model (WHAM) (Tipping 1994). A significant advantage



of the NOM chemistry developed for WHAM is that reactions and parameter values were developed by simultaneously considering numerous NOM samples and numerous metals.

The BLM also includes reactions that describe the chemical interactions of copper and other cations to physiologically active sites (or "biotic ligands") that correspond to the proximate site of action of toxicity. The model parameters define the degree of interaction based on binding affinity characteristics measured in gill-loading experiments (Playle et al. 1993a, b). That is, the biotic ligand (BL) is represented by a characteristic binding site density and conditional stability constant for each of the dissolved chemical species with which it reacts. Predictions of metal toxicity are made by assuming that the dissolved metal LC50, which varies with water chemistry, is always associated with a fixed critical level of metal accumulation at the biotic ligand. This fixed level of accumulation at 50 percent mortality, referred to as the LA50, is the concentration of the metal-biotic ligand complex (Me:BL) that is associated with 50 percent mortality for a fixed exposure. It is assumed to be constant, regardless of the chemical characteristics of the water (Meyer et al. 1999, 2002). This combination of reactions that describe aqueous metal speciation and organism interactions allows the BLM to predict copper toxicity to a variety of organisms over a variety of water quality conditions (Santore et al. 2001). Appendix A describes the range of water quality values and species to which the model has been applied.

A significant advantage of the BLM is that most of the parameters are invariant for different organisms, despite the complexity of the modeling framework. All of the thermodynamic constants used to simulate inorganic and organic chemical equilibrium reactions are determined by characteristics of the metal and the available ligands. As such, the constants do not change for simulations involving different organisms. Binding constants for copper and other cations to the biotic ligand were developed from data reported by Playle and others using fathead minnow (Playle et al. 1993a, b). Similar measurements would be difficult or impossible to obtain for many organisms, especially invertebrates, because of the difficulty associated with isolating and excising gill tissue, or an appropriate analog. Nevertheless, the parameter values developed from fathead minnow measurements appear to work adequately for other organisms (Santore et al. 2001). Figure 2 shows the predictive capabilities of the model with fathead minnows.



3.0 INCORPORATION OF BLM INTO CRITERIA DEVELOPMENT PROCEDURES

3.1 Implications for Criteria—Criteria Calculations

The use of the BLM to predict the bioavailability and toxicity of copper to aquatic organisms under site-specific conditions is a significant change from the previous CMC derivation methodology. Previous aquatic life criteria documents for copper (e.g., U.S. EPA 1980, 1985, 1996) expressed the CMC as a function of water hardness. Now, EPA chooses to utilize the BLM to update its freshwater acute criterion because the BLM accounts for all important inorganic and organic ligand interactions of copper while also considering competitive interactions that influence binding of copper at the site of toxicity, or the "biotic ligand." The BLM's ability to incorporate metal speciation reactions and organism interactions allows prediction of metal effect levels to a variety of organisms over a wide range of water quality conditions. Accordingly, the BLM is an attractive tool for deriving water quality criteria. Application of the BLM may reduce, if not eliminate, the need for site-specific modifications, such as Water Effect Ratios, to account for site-specific chemistry influences on metal toxicity.

While the BLM is currently considered appropriate for use to derive an updated freshwater CMC, further development is required before it will be suitable for use to evaluate a saltwater CMC or a CCC or chronic value.

3.2 BLM Input Parameters

For copper simulations, the necessary water quality input parameters are: pH; dissolved organic carbon (DOC) (in mg/L); percent humic acid; temperature; major cations (Ca^+ , Mg^+ , Na^+ , and K^+); major anions (SO_4^- , CI^-); dissolved inorganic carbon (DIC); and sulfide.

Dissolved cations compete with Cu²⁺ for dissolved organic matter (DOM) binding sites. For example, pH is important in determining the metal complexation capacity of dissolved organic matter (DOM). It also is important in determining speciation of inorganic carbon, which relates to formation of metal carbonate complexes. DOM can likewise play a critical role in determining metal speciation and bioavailability. Its concentration is entered into the BLM in terms of the concentration of DOC. Because the representation of metal-NOM complexes in the BLM adopted from WHAM, characterizes metal complexation with both humic and fulvic organic matter, it is necessary to specify the distribution of these two humic acid forms of natural organic matter. Ca and Na can directly compete with copper at DOM and biotic ligand binding sites, and these cations will therefore have a direct effect on model predictions. Magnesium may have a critical role as well for some organisms. In that SO₄ may be the dominant anion in freshwater, it is important for determining the charge balance and ionic strength in BLM calculations. Chloride can also contribute to ionic strength computations for copper. The sum of three inorganic species in the BLM—carbonate (CO_3) , bicarbonate (HCO_3) , and carbonic acid (H_2CO_2) —is considered inorganic carbon. Inorganic carbon is a critical input to the BLM because many metals including copper form carbonate complexes. DIC measurements are typically not made in the environment, so even though it is the preferred measurement, DIC can be estimated from alkalinity and pH when a DIC measurement is not available. Sulfide has a strong affinity for many metals, and although the sulfide concentration is traditionally assumed to be negligible in aerated waters; its concentration may be impacted by wastewater treatment plant effluents.

A number of fixed parameters or constants are also used in the BLM along with the input parameters specified above for speciation or toxicity mode computations. Some of the key fixed constants are the binding constants for the interactions between copper and protons and the "biotic ligand." The values contained in the model were derived by Playle and coworkers by conducting gill-loading experiments (Janes and Playle 1995; Playle et al. 1992, 1993a, b). Playle et al. (1993a, b) also developed the gill site density parameter of 30 nmol/g wet weight used in the model from measured copper gill concentrations.

3.3 Model Prediction Modes

The graphical user interface that has been developed for the BLM allows the user to run the model in either the "Metal Toxicity Mode" or in the "Metal Speciation Mode." Run in the toxicity mode, the BLM predicts the dissolved concentration of copper required to cause acute mortality for water characteristics specified by the user. Run in the speciation mode, the BLM calculates the chemical speciation of a dissolved metal, including complexation with inorganic and organic ligands, and the biotic ligand. Each computational mode requires the user to specify the chemical parameters discussed above and either a dissolved copper concentration or a copper accumulation associated with the biotic ligand.

The biotic ligand represents a discrete receptor or the site of action of toxicity to an organism, where accumulation of metal at or above a critical threshold concentration leads to acute toxicity. The lethal accumulation level on the BL that results in an effect on 50 percent of the individuals is termed the "LA50" for that species. The LA50 concentration of copper on the BL is expected to result in 50 percent mortality in a toxicological exposure for a fixed exposure duration. The LA50 is expressed in units of nmol Cu/g wet weight of the BL. Since the BLM includes inorganic and organic speciation and competitive complexation of copper with the BL, the amount of dissolved copper required to reach this threshold will vary, depending on the water chemistry. Therefore, in addition to calculating chemical speciation, use of the BLM to evaluate the dissolved Cu concentration that is associated with the LA50 provides a prediction of the concentration of copper that would result in acute toxicity (e.g., LC50) for a given set of water quality characteristics.

When run in the metal toxicity mode, the BLM will predict the LC50 of copper using an LA50 value from a parameter file specific to a particular species for all of the observations with a complete set of BLM input parameters. However, the BLM can also be run with "User Defined" LA50s. That is, the BLM will predict LC50s based on the LA50 values specified by the user rather than the default LA50 value specified in the parameter files for particular organisms. Instructions for constructing BLM input files and running the model can be found in the Biotic Ligand Model User's Guide (Appendix B).

3.4 Data Acceptability and Screening Procedures

Data screening procedures for this effort differed from data screening procedures for previous copper criteria documents, in that studies previously considered unacceptable for deriving criteria are acceptable when utilizing the BLM. For example, studies with DOC content exceeding 5 mg/L or studies that were fed were not always acceptable in the past, but are now acceptable for use with the BLM, because the BLM is designed to account for these differences. Conversely, some previously acceptable freshwater acute toxicity tests were relegated to Appendix C (other data) because of poor chemical characterization, together with several other freshwater tests in which copper concentrations in the test chambers were not measured. Detailed chemical analyses of the dilution water, test water, and measured copper concentrations are critical parameters for the BLM (see Mechanistic Models section). The lack of any or all of these major ion concentrations, including measurements of total or dissolved copper, without reliable estimates of surrogate values, precludes the use of a particular study's results (see next section, Estimation of Test Water Chemistry).

3.5 Estimation of Test Water Chemistry

To incorporate the BLM into the copper aquatic life criteria document, a data table was generated summarizing the acute toxicity of copper to freshwater organisms that included the necessary BLM water chemistry parameters. Studies lacking measured copper concentrations were not considered for further evaluation. A literature review was conducted, searching AQUIRE, BIOSYS, and CAS. The literature was reviewed, and the appropriate measurements were tabulated.

As the understanding by the scientific community of the important influence of water chemistry on metals toxicity has increased, measurements (and reporting) of relevant water quality parameters has also increased. Still, much of the currently available aquatic toxicity literature for metals does not include measurements for all of the key BLM inputs. Many of these key BLM inputs were not measured or reported in the published material reviewed for this update of the WQC. Consequently, additional data were obtained from the authors; additional measurements were made in relevant water sources; or, finally, input parameters were estimated. A detailed description of the methods used to obtain or estimate these input parameters is included in *Estimation of Water Chemistry Parameters for Acute Copper Toxicity Tests* (Appendix D). Below is a summary of the effort undertaken to estimate the various test water chemistry conditions.

3.6 Water Chemistry Data Acquisition

Studies included in Table 1a of the ambient water quality criteria document for copper were reviewed to record all reported information on dilution and test water chemistry. Any additional references to which the authors referred while describing their test waters were retrieved. When critical water chemistry parameters were not available, authors were asked to measure missing water chemistry parameters in the toxicity test source waters. If primary or corresponding authors could not be contacted, an attempt was made to contact secondary authors or personnel from the laboratories where the studies had been conducted. Failing this, the U.S. Geological Survey National Stream Quality Accounting Network (NASQAN) and the EPA STOrage and RETrieval (STORET) data were used to obtain data for tests conducted in ambient surface water. Where actual water chemistry data were unavailable, data from other studies with the same water were used as surrogate values if appropriate. In some instances, other available sources were contacted to obtain water chemistry data (e.g., city drinking water treatment officials). The acquired data were scrutinized for representativeness and usefulness for estimating surrogate values to complete the water quality information for the dilution and/or test water that was used in the original studies. When the above sources could not be used geochemical ion input parameters were based on the reported hardness measurement and regression relationships constructed for various input parameters from NASQAN data.

As with any modeling effort, the reliability of model output depends on the reliability of model input. Although the input data have been carefully scrutinized and filtered, the reliability of the BLM-derived accumulation and toxicity values for this project are subject to the limitations of the input measurements and estimation procedures described above.

3.7 Ranking of Quality of Test Chemistry Characterization

A ranking system was devised to evaluate only the quality of the chemical characterization of the test water, not the overall quality of the study itself. Studies with a rank of 1 contain all of the necessary parameters for BLM input based on measurements from either the test chambers or the water source. In general, studies in which the BLM input parameters were reported for test chamber samples take precedence over studies in which the parameters were reported only for the source water. A

characterization ranking of 2 denotes those studies where not all parameters were measured, but reliable estimates of the requisite concentrations could be made. Similarly, a rank of 3 denotes studies in which all parameters except DOC were measured, but reliable estimates of DOC could be made. For the majority of the tests, a chemical characterization of 4+ was assigned because hardness, alkalinity, and pH were measured, and the ionic composition could be reliably estimated or calculated. A 4- was assigned to those studies conducted using standard reconstituted water in which hardness, alkalinity, or pH was either measured or referenced, and the recipe for the water is known (ASTM 2000; U.S. EPA 1993). The chemical characterization rank of 5 was ascribed to studies in which one of the key parameters (DOC, Ca, pH, alkalinity) were not measured and could not be reliably estimated, a study was given a chemical characterization rank of 6. Studies receiving a quality rating of greater than 4 were not used in the criteria development procedures because the estimates for some of the key input parameters were not thought to be reliable.

3.8 Criteria Computations

To calculate the acute criterion or CMC, reported acute toxicity values (e.g., LC50s) (Table 1a) and individual test water chemistry parameters were used to calculate LA50 values by running the model in the speciation mode. These LA50 values were then normalized to a standard water condition (Table 1a, footnote d) by running the model in the toxicity mode and specifying user-defined LA50s. As used here, "normalization" refers to the procedure whereby all of the measured effect levels were adjusted, via use of the BLM, to the predicted LC50 that would have been expected in a standard test water. These normalized LC50s were used to calculate Species Mean Acute Values (SMAVs), Genus Mean Acute Values (GMAVs), and a Final Acute Value (FAV) pursuant to the 1985 Guidelines procedure. The FAV represents a hypothetical genus more sensitive than 95 percent of the tested genera. The FAV was derived from the four GMAVs that have cumulative probabilities closest to the 5th percentile toxicity value for all the tested genera (Table 3a). Inputting this FAV as an LC50 concentration and running the model in speciation mode determines the lethal accumulation associated with the FAV in the standard test water. Since it is assumed that the LA50 does not vary with changes in water chemistry, this LA50 is programmed into the model as a constant. To derive a criterion for a specific site, the site water chemistry data are input to the model. The model then uses an iterative approach to determine the dissolved copper concentration needed to achieve a Cu-biotic ligand concentration equal to the criterion LA50. This dissolved Cu concentration is in effect the FAV based on site water chemistry. The site-specific CMC is this predicted dissolved metal concentration divided by two. The site-specific CCC is the CMC divided by the final acute-chronic ratio (FACR).

The LA50s used in criteria computations were calculated for each test in which water quality characteristics could be reasonably well characterized. Because an underlying premise of the BLM is that the LA50 is invariant for a given organism, for any test condition, the fact that some residual variability in LA50s exists may reflect model uncertainty, including: (1) among-strain variability; (2) among-life-stage variability; and (3) potential physiological effects of the site water on the test organism that alter organism sensitivity rather than metal bioavailability.

Ultimately, the final freshwater criteria depend on a number of varying water quality parameters (e.g., Ca^+ , Mg^+ , and DOC), and any number of test water chemistries could be used to normalize the Table 1a data. Table 1a data (LC50s and EC50s) are standardized to the water chemistry condition specified in footnote f, for illustrative purposes only as is typical in hardness-dependent metals criteria documents. Be that as it may, the normalization chemistry selected may influence the species sensitivity distribution, particularly when two or more species have similar sensitivities to copper toxicity. Example criteria for several water chemistry conditions are provided in Figure 6.

4.0 CONVERSION FACTORS

Although past water quality criteria for copper (and other metals) had been established upon total metals' concentrations, EPA made the decision to allow the expression of metals criteria on the basis of dissolved metal (operationally defined as metal that passes through a 0.45-micron filter, [U.S. EPA 1993]) because it was thought to better represent the bioavailable fraction of the metal. At that time, most data in existing databases were from tests that were either conducted using nominal concentrations, or provided only total copper measurements, such that some procedure was required to estimate their dissolved equivalents. Now, dissolved metals toxicity values are required as BLM input in order to obtain lethal accumulation values. EPA used conversion factors (CF) that when multiplied by the total metal concentrations result in a dissolved metal concentration. CF corresponds to the percentage of the total recoverable metal that is dissolved.

CFs for the conversion of total copper concentrations in water from freshwater toxicity tests to dissolved copper concentrations were developed by conducting a number of laboratory toxicity tests (Stephan 1995; University of Wisconsin-Superior 1995). Simulation tests were conducted to determine the influence of copper concentrations, presence or absence of food, duration of the test, hardness, and species of test organism on the concentration of dissolved copper in the test water. The simulation tests were designed to mimic conditions that existed during the toxicity tests used to derive the earlier metals criteria, such as sorption of metal onto test chambers, uptake of metal by test organisms, and precipitation. The recommended conversion factors from the Stephan (1995) report (0.96 for both the CMC and CCC) were utilized to convert total recoverable measurements to dissolved values, when necessary.

In the case of saltwater, several studies are available that report nominal, total, and dissolved concentrations of copper in laboratory water (Table 1b) from site-specific WER studies (refer to Appendix E for further details). These studies show relatively consistent ratios for the nominal-to-dissolved concentrations and for total-to-dissolved concentrations. The dissolved-to-nominal conversion requires a larger correction factor than does the dissolved-to-total correction. The data provided in Appendix E bear this out in all but one case (SAIC 1993 data for the blue mussel). Nominal copper concentrations may have been proportionally lower than for the other studies. The overall ratio for correcting saltwater total copper concentrations to dissolved copper concentrations is 0.909, based on the results of six studies (Appendix E). This is comparable to its equivalent conversion factor in freshwater, which is 0.960 (Stephan 1995). When it is necessary to convert nominal saltwater copper concentrations to dissolved copper concentrations.

5.0 DATA SUMMARY AND CRITERIA CALCULATION

5.1 Summary of Acute Toxicity to Freshwater Animals and Criteria Calculation

This effort identified approximately 600 acute freshwater toxicity tests with aquatic organisms and copper considered acceptable for deriving criteria. Of these acceptable studies, approximately 100 were eliminated from the criteria derivation process because they did not report measured copper concentrations. Nearly 150 additional studies were eliminated from the calculation of the FAV because they received a quality rating of greater than 4 in the quality rating scheme described above.

The BLM version AP08-Build 2002-05-07 was used to calculate lethal accumulation values for each individual test result included in Table 1a by running the model in the metal speciation mode (see Appendix B, BLM User's Guide). Reported effect levels (i.e., LC50s or EC50s) and the chemistry characterization for each test were input parameters for the model (Appendix F). LC50s or EC50s

reported in terms of total recoverable metal were converted to dissolved concentrations as discussed above in the Conversion Factors section. Lethal accumulation values were then converted to toxicity values (e.g., LC50s) at standard water condition by running the model in the metal toxicity mode.

Data from approximately 350 test were used to derive normalized LC50 values, including 15 species of invertebrates, 22 species of fish, and 1 amphibian species (Table 1a). Large variations in toxicity values were observed for some species. Examination of the nature of these individual values showed that a majority of them corresponded to observations where key BLM parameters were missing and thus estimated (i.e., a quality ranking of 3 or 4 range is typical for these values), and for many species the variation in LC50 was seen to increase in observations with more missing BLM parameters (e.g., *D. magna*, Figure 3). The large variability in LC50 for some species, therefore, seems to be related to the use of estimated BLM parameters for some of the data. For other organisms (such as rainbow trout), significant variations in LC50s were likely due to the mixture of life-stages represented in the acute toxicity datasets. In general, an objective approach that could be used to automatically screen anomalous LC50 values was needed. For a given species with more than five test results, relatively extreme values



were defined within the distribution of LC50 values using a simple statistical method that identifies those individual values that are far from most of the rest of the population of values (Chambers et al. 1983). To characterize these extreme values, a range was established by first calculating the difference between the 1st and 3rd quartiles for the entire dataset. This difference was then multiplied by 1.5 and either added to the 3rd quartile, or subtracted from the 1st quartile to establish the "inside range." Any points falling outside this range were identified as extreme values. While data limitations preclude the application of a more formal evaluation of "statistical outliers," this simplified procedure was considered to be a reasonable way to account for what appeared to be anomalous results.

As an example of this method applied to the LC50 data, box plots are shown of the range of LC50 values for each of the species in Table 1a. Species are identified with numbers, as shown in Table 6. For each species, the geometric mean is shown as the center symbol, the first set of ranges represent the 1st and 3rd quartile. The second set of ranges represent the minimum and maximum values excluding extreme values. Data corresponding to extreme values are individually plotted as separate plotting symbols (Figure 4). For the extreme values, the number of vertices in the plotting symbol represents the



the mean.

quality ranking (e.g., a triangle represents an observation with a quality ranking of three, a diamond represents an observation with a quality ranking of 4+, a star represents a quality ranking of 4 or 4-). The LC50 values that corresponded to "extreme values" were therefore not considered in subsequent calculation of the 5th-percentile LC50 value.

SMAVs ranged from 2.54 μ g/L for the most sensitive species, *Daphnia pulicaria*, to 101,999 μ g/L for the least sensitive species, *Notemigonus crysoleucas*. Cladocerans were among the most sensitive species, with *D. pulicaria*, *D. magna*, *Ceriodaphnia dubia*, and *Scapholeberis sp*. being four out of the six most sensitive species. Invertebrates in general were more sensitive than fish, representing the 10 lowest SMAVs.

The 27 GMAVs calculated from the above-mentioned SMAVs ranged from $3.56 \mu g/L$ for *Daphnids* to 101,999 $\mu g/L$ for the *Notemigonus* genus. Nine of the 10 most sensitive genera were invertebrates. The salmonid genus *Oncorhynchus* was the most sensitive fish genus, with a GMAV of 29.11 $\mu g/L$ and an overall GMAV ranking of 10.

Toxicity values are available for more than one species in eight different taxonomic families. The ranked GMAVs are presented in Figure 5. Pursuant to procedures used to calculate a FAV, a FAV of 4.2 : g/L was derived from the four GMAVs with cumulative probabilities closest to the 5th percentile toxicity value for all the tested genera (Table 3c). The presumption is that this acute toxicity value represents the LC50 for an organism that is sensitive at the 5 percentile level of the GMAV distribution. The four lowest GMAVs vary by less than a factor of three from the highest to the lowest value. The CMC is the FAV divided by two, and rounded to two significant figures. Therefore, the freshwater dissolved copper CMC for the normalization chemistry presented is 2.1 $\mu g/L$.

Site-water chemistry parameters are needed to evaluate a criterion. This is analogous to the situation that previously existed for the hardness-based WQC, where a hardness concentration was necessary in order to derive a criterion. Examples of CMC calculations at various water chemistry conditions are presented in Figure 6.





5.1.1 Comparison With Hardness-Adjusted Values

As discussed previously, EPA's earlier freshwater copper criteria recommendations were hardness-dependent values. One would expect a BLM-based criterion calculation procedure to yield the more appropriate criterion—appropriate in the sense that it accounts for the important water chemistry factors that affect toxicity, including DOC complexation, where the hardness correction does not. While in principle the BLM is expected to improve the criteria calculation method, the BLM's ability to accurately predict LC50s or metal speciation is limited by the quality of the input data. For this effort, many input parameters were estimated. To ascertain if the BLM-based criterion is an improvement over a hardness-dependent criterion in light of the necessity of estimating several of the required input parameters, the variations between measured versus predicted values for each of these approaches were compared.

For the first comparison, lethal accumulation values were calculated for each study result (uncensored data) utilizing the measured or estimated chemistry input parameters. Average accumulation values for each species were calculated and used to run the BLM with "User Defined" LA50s, specifying the species average accumulation value for all study results for that species and the original input chemistry parameters. The predicted LC50 values at each chemistry condition were compared with the originally measured values by regressing the natural logarithm of the predicted toxicity value versus the natural logarithm of the measured toxicity value.

A similar procedure was performed for the hardness adjustment. A pooled hardness slope was calculated using all appropriate Table 1a data (considering all quality ratings) based on the 1985 Guideline procedure (Appendix G). This pooled slope was used to normalize all Table 1a data used for the BLM analysis to a standard hardness of 50 mg/L (measured as CaCO₃). Species mean acute values were calculated and used to predict LC50s for each test result, for that same species, at the test hardness. Again, the natural logarithms of the measured versus hardness predicted values were regressed.

The mean square of error (MSE) from these two least squares regression procedures were compared. The MSE from the BLM measured versus predicted analysis (0.403) was only slightly lower than the MSE from the comparable hardness analysis (0.420). The small reduction in the MSE for the BLM analysis is interpreted to mean that the BLM, in this case, was a slightly better predictor of LC50 values and somewhat better at reducing variability among species mean values compared with the hardness adjustment for these laboratory water studies. Application of the BLM in field situations where DOC is expected to be present at higher concentrations than those observed in laboratory studies would likely improve the performance of the BLM compared with the hardness adjustment. The reason is that the BLM would reasonably account for the typically observed increase in effect levels under such conditions, while the hardness-based approach would not.

As a comparison between the hardness typical of the previous copper criterion and this revised criterion using the BLM, both procedures were used to calculate criterion values for waters with a range in hardness as specified by the standard EPA recipes (U.S. EPA 1993). The EPA recipes specify the concentration of various salts and reagents to be used in the synthesis of laboratory test waters with specific hardness values (e.g., very soft, soft, moderately hard, hard, or very hard). As the water hardness increases in these recipes, pH and alkalinity also increase. This has implications for the BLM because the bioavailability of copper would be expected to decrease with increasing pH and alkalinity due to the increasing degree of complexation of copper with hydroxides and carbonates and decreasing proton competition with the metal at both DOM and biotic ligand binding sites. The BLM was used to predict the WQC with a DOC concentration of 2.3 mg/L (the average value in the data used in Table 1) for the five standard hardness waters. The BLM criterion for these waters agrees very well with that calculated by the hardness equation used in previous copper criterion documents (Figure 6). However, alkalinity and pH change as hardness changes in the EPA recipes. The BLM prediction is taking all of these changes in water quality into account. It is possible to use the BLM to look only at the change in predicted WQC with changes in hardness (e.g., alkalinity and pH remaining constant). Also shown in Figure 6 are BLM predictions with only hardness varying. As can be seen, these predictions show a much flatter response with increasing hardness, and do not match the response seen in the hardness equation at all. The hardness equation, therefore, is based on waters where changes in hardness are accompanied by changes in pH and alkalinity. However, there are many possible natural waters where changes in hardness are not accompanied by changes in pH and alkalinity (such as water draining a region rich in gypsum). In these cases, the hardness equation based criterion will still assume a response that is characteristic of waters where hardness, alkalinity, and pH co-vary, and will likely be underprotective relative to the level of protection intended by the Guidelines, in high hardness waters. Conversely, in waters where the covariation between hardness, pH, and alkalinity is greater than is typical for data in Table 1, the hardness equation based criteria may be overprotective.

5.2 Summary of Acute Toxicity to Saltwater Animals and Criteria Calculation

Tests of the acute toxicity of copper to saltwater organisms (acceptable for deriving criteria) have been conducted with 34 species of invertebrates and 18 species of fish (Table 1b). In general, where relationships were apparent between life stage and sensitivity, values only for the most sensitive life stage were considered in deriving SMAVs. The censoring procedure used for the freshwater toxicity values was also considered for use in censoring saltwater acute toxicity values. However, it was not applied. The freshwater censoring procedure was not used because, in one case, it resulted in eliminating only data for the most sensitive life-stage, rather than the insensitive life-stage. In situations where data indicate that a particular life-stage for the species is at least a factor or two more resistant than another, the Guidelines recommend that the data for the more resistant life-stage not be used in the calculation of the SMAV.

Embryo-larval life-stages of bivalve mollusc genera represent the first two of the four most sensitive genera, including, by sensitivity rank, the genera *Mytilus*-11.5 μ g/L and *Crassostrea*-12.6 μ g/L. Toxicity data for *Mytilus edulis* were distinguished from data for *Mytilus spp*. based on the molecular

genetics work presented by Gaffney (1997) and information about the collection locations of the test organisms for the *Mytilus* studies. The fourth most sensitive genera (the sea urchin genus *Strongylocentrotus*) is also represented by the embryo-larval life-stage (Table 1b). Comparing the data for older mussels (Nelson et al. 1988) and oysters (Okazaki 1976) with data for embryo-larval forms indicates that these early life stages (ELSs) are appreciably more sensitive than the older forms. This is probably true for marine invertebrates in general, although data for the red abalone (Martin et al. 1977) indicate that 48-hour larvae are perhaps slightly more resistant than larger forms. The mysid, *Holmesimysis costata*, and the copepods, *Eurytemora affinis* and *Acartia tonsa*, are among the most sensitive crustacean species tested.

Except for the summer flounder and the cabezon, with GMAVs of 12.7 and 86.4 μ g/L, respectively, no other saltwater fish had a GMAV below 100 μ g/L. Fourteen other genera of marine fish had GMAVs from 117 to 4,743 μ g/L dissolved copper. Two of the lowest fish GMAVs were based on tests with early life stages, and the higher fish GMAVs did not include tests with early life stages. These results suggest that acute tests with early (post-hatch) life stages can generally be protective of acute toxicity to older life stages, but not necessarily the reverse.

In sum, several studies indicate that salinity affects copper toxicity and those effects are speciesdependent. The brackish water clam, *Rangia cuneata*, was very sensitive to copper in freshwater (LC50 210 μ g/L at <1 g/kg salinity), but 35 to 38 times more resistant at salinities of 5.5 and 22 g/kg (Olson and Harrel 1973). Similarly, young striped bass were about three times more sensitive to copper at a salinity of 5 g/kg than at 10 or 15 g/kg (Reardon and Harrel 1990). An influence of salinity was observed by Ozoh (1992a) in the previously cited study of the influence of temperature and salinity on copper toxicity to the polychaete worm, *Hediste diversicolor*. Effects of salinity were more consistent than those for temperature. A regression of log LC50 versus log salinity indicated a slope of 0.245 for young worms, and a slope of 0.596 for mature worms. Increasing salinity over the range tested (7–30 g/kg) increased LC50s by factors of approximately 1.4 and 2.4 for young worms and mature worms, respectively. Establishing salinity-dependent criteria on the basis of these limited data is not possible. Furthermore, salinity-based criteria should be based only on tests with organisms and life stages that would be present at lower salinities.

Acute values are available for more than one species in the eight different taxonomic families recommended in the Guidelines. The 44 available saltwater GMAVs ranged from 11.5 μ g/L dissolved copper for *Mytilus* to 6,448 μ g/L for *Rangia*, a factor of over 500 difference (Table 3b, Figure 7). In each of six genera with a range of SMAVs, all SMAVs within the genus are within a factor of 3.5. A saltwater FAV of 12.3 μ g/L dissolved copper was obtained using the four lowest GMAVs in Table 3b and the calculation procedure described in the Guidelines. This FAV was lowered to 6.19 μ g/L to protect commercially and recreationally important mussel species. The CMC is the FAV divided by two, and rounded to two significant figures. Therefore, the new saltwater dissolved copper CMC is 3.1 μ g/L.

5.3 Formulation of the CCC

5.3.1 Statistical Evaluation of Chronic Toxicity Data

In aquatic toxicity tests, chronic values are usually defined as the geometric mean of the highest concentration of a toxic substance at which no adverse effect is observed (highest no observed adverse effect concentration, or NOAEC) and the lowest concentration of the toxic substance that causes an adverse effect (lowest observed adverse effect concentration, or LOAEC). The significance of the observed effects is determined by statistical tests comparing responses of organisms exposed to low-level (control) concentrations of the toxic substance against responses of organisms exposed to elevated concentrations. Analysis of variance is the most common test employed for such comparisons. This



approach, however, has limitations; it has the disadvantage of resulting in marked differences between the magnitudes of the effects corresponding to the individual chronic values, because of variation in the power of the statistical tests used, the concentrations tested, and the size and variability of the samples used (Stephan and Rogers 1985).

An alternative approach to calculate chronic values focuses on the use of point estimates such as regression analysis to define the dose-response relationship. With a regression equation or probit analysis, which defines the level of adverse effects as a function of increasing concentrations of the toxic substance, it is possible to determine the concentration that causes a relatively small effect, for example a 5 to 30 percent reduction in response. To make chronic values reflect a uniform level of effect, regression and probit analyses were used, where possible, both to demonstrate that a significant concentration-effect relationship was present and to estimate chronic values with a consistent level of effect. The most precise estimates of effect concentrations can generally be made for 50 percent reduction (EC50); however, such a major reduction is not necessarily consistent with criteria providing adequate protection. In contrast, a concentration that causes a low level of reduction, such as an EC5 or EC10, is rarely statistically significantly different from the control treatment. As a compromise, the EC20 is used here to represent a low level of effect that is generally significantly different from the control treatment across the useful chronic datasets that are available for copper.

Regression or probit analysis was utilized to evaluate a chronic dataset only in cases where the necessary data were available and the dataset met the following conditions: (1) it contained a control treatment (or low exposure data point) to anchor the curve at the low end, (2) it contained at least three concentrations, and (3) two of the data points had effect variable values below the control and above zero (i.e., "partial effects"). Control concentrations of copper were estimated in cases where no measurements were reported. These analyses were performed using the Toxicity Relationship Analysis Program software

(version 1.0; U.S. EPA). Additional detail regarding the aforementioned statistical procedures is available in the cited program.

When the data from an acceptable chronic test met the conditions for the logistic regression or probit analysis, the EC20 was the preferred chronic value. When data did not meet the conditions, was not available, or did not lend itself to regression analysis, best scientific judgment was used to determine the chronic value. In this case, the chronic value is usually the geometric mean of the NOAEC and the LOAEC. But when no treatment concentration was an NOAEC, the chronic value was less than the lowest tested concentration.

For life-cycle, partial life-cycle, and early life stage tests, the toxicological variable used in chronic value analyses was survival, reproduction, growth, emergence, or intrinsic growth rate. If copper apparently reduced both survival and growth (weight or length), the product of variables (biomass) was analyzed, rather than analyzing the variables separately. The most sensitive of the toxicological variables was selected, for the most part, as the chronic value for the particular study.

A species-by-species discussion of each acceptable chronic test on copper evaluated for this document is presented in Appendix H. Figures that presents the data and regression/probability distribution line for each of the acceptable chronic test which contained sufficient acceptable data are also provided in Appendix H.

5.3.2 Calculation of Freshwater CCC

Acceptable freshwater chronic toxicity data from early life stage tests, partial life-cycle tests, and full life-cycle tests are currently available for 29 tests including data for 6 invertebrate species and 10 fish species (Table 2a). The 17 chronic values for invertebrate species range from 2.83 (*D. pulex*) to 34.6 μ g/L (*C. dubia*); and the 12 chronic values for the fish species range from <5 (brook trout) to 60.4 μ g/L (northern pike). Of the 29 chronic tests, comparable acute values are available for 17 of the tests (Table 2c). The relationship between acute toxicity values and ACRs is presented in Figure 8. The supporting acute and chronic test values for the ACRs and the species mean ACRs are presented in Table 3c.

The general effect of hardness on chronic toxicity is not evident upon inspection of the limited hardness-chronic toxicity data for the species for which such evaluations are marginally possible. Five tests over a range of hardness values were conducted with *D. magna* (Blaylock et al. 1985; Chapman et al. unpublished manuscript; van Leeuwen et al. 1988). Five tests over a range of hardness values were also conducted with *C. dubia* (Belanger et al. 1989; Carlson et al. 1986; Oris et al. 1991). Winner (1985) conducted eight tests with *D. pulex* over a range of hardness values, but humic acid was also varied in these tests. In the *D. magna* tests, chronic values increased when hardness increased from about 50 to about 100 mg/L; however, in one of the tests, the chronic value decreased when hardness was further raised to about 200 mg/L. In a second test conducted at a hardness of 225 mg/L, the chronic value was not much higher than those in the 100 mg/L hardness tests. The resulting overall slope for *D. magna* based on these data is negative. The *C. dubia* test exhibited no discernible trends between hardness and toxicity. One possibility is that daphnids may be ingesting precipitated copper that might form at high hardness and high pH. Alternatively, Winner et al. (1985) suggest that Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ ions in hard water may be displacing Cu²⁺ from binding sites on humic acid, making more copper bioavailable. Because the hardness relationship with chronic toxicity is equivocal, no overall chronic slope was derived.



Because the minimum eight family data requirements for chronic toxicity data were not met in order to use the FAV approach and because the relationship between hardness and chronic toxicity is equivocal, EPA elected to derive the CCC utilizing the ACR approach from the Guidelines. Moreover, this was a means of incorporating the improvements of the acute BLM calculations into the chronic criterion derivation procedures even though, as previously mentioned, additional development is required before the BLM will be suitable for use in evaluating chronic toxicity data directly. To calculate the FCV, the FAV is divided by the FACR; thus, no chronic hardness slope is necessary to derive a CCC.

The freshwater FCV is derived using acute chronic ratios in conjunction with the FAV. However, the FAV is site-water specific. To derive a FCV, the BLM is run in the toxicity mode, which utilizes the accumulation value constant incorporated in the model to calculate an LC50 based on the site water chemistry composition. This LC50 is then divided by the freshwater FACR to generate an FCV, which is the basis for the CCC.

Overall, individual ACRs varied from <1 (0.55) for *C. dubia* (Oris et al. 1991) to 191.6 for the snail, *Campeloma decisum* (Arthur and Leonard 1970). Species mean acute-chronic ratios ranged from 1.48 in saltwater for the sheepshead minnow (Hughes et al. 1989) to 171.2 in freshwater for the snail, *C. decisum*. The FACR of 3.23 was calculated as the geometric mean of the ACRs for sensitive freshwater species, *C. dubia*, *D. magna*, *D. pulex*, *O. tshawytscha*, and *O. mykiss* along with the one saltwater ACR for *C. variegatus*. Pursuant to the Guidelines, consideration was given to calculating the FACR based on all ACRs within a factor of 10, but because there appeared to be a relationship between acutely sensitive species and increases in ACRs as sensitivity decreased, the FACR was derived from data for species whose SMAVs were close to the FAV. Based on the normalization water chemistry conditions used for

illustrative purposes in the document, the freshwater CMC value is 4.2, which divided by the FACR of 3.23 results in a freshwater CCC of 1.3 μ g/L dissolved Cu.

5.3.3 Evaluation of the Chronic Data Available for Saltwater Species

Only one acceptable saltwater chronic copper value is available for the sheepshead minnow (Table 2b). This chronic toxicity value was obtained from a flow-through early life stage test in which the concentrations of copper in the test chamber were measured.

The ELS test with sheepshead minnow was one of the tests for which the chronic value and most sensitive effect are reported without providing concentration-response data. Thus, regression analysis was not an option for statistical evaluation of the data in this case. In the 28-day ELS test, growth was reported to be a more sensitive endpoint than mortality, and the chronic value for growth was 249 μ g/L. The 96-hour LC50 reported for copper in this study was 368 μ g/L, and the two values provide an acute-chronic ratio of 1.48.

A life-cycle test was conducted with the mysid, *Americamysis bahia* (formerly *Mysidopsis bahia*). Survival of mysids was reduced at 140 µg/L, and production of young virtually ceased at 77 µg/L (significant at P<0.05), but reproduction at 24 and 38 µg/L was not different from that of controls. Based on reproductive data, unacceptable effects were observed at 77 µg/L, but not at 38 µg/L, resulting in a chronic value of 54.09 µg/L. Using the acute value of 181 µg/L, an ACR for this mysid would be 3.346. Control survival in this test however, was considered inadequate; thus, the chronic value was not used to derive the final chronic criterion.

The ACR value for saltwater is for a relatively acutely insensitive saltwater species, with a GMAV falling in the upper half of all tested saltwater genera. The lowest saltwater acute values are from tests with embryos and larvae of molluscs and embryos of summer flounder, which are possibly the most sensitive life stages of these species. Although saltwater ACRs for acutely sensitive saltwater species are not available, ACRs for acutely sensitive freshwater species are available. Some of the most acutely sensitive freshwater species for which ACRs are available are cladocerans *C. dubia*, *D. magna*, and *D. pulex*). (Data for *D. pulex* are not listed in Table 1a because of the ranking based on the chemical characterization of the test water for the BLM. *D. pulex* would be among the most acutely sensitive species if a hardness adjustment were utilized instead of the BLM.) On the basis of data for the five sensitive freshwater species along with the one available saltwater ACR for the sheepshead minnow, the saltwater FACR is the same as the freshwater ACR of 3.23. Thus, for saltwater, the final chronic value for copper is equal to the FAV of 6.188 µg/L divided by the ACR of 3.23, or 1.9 µg/L (Table 3c).

6.0 PLANT DATA

Copper has been widely used as an algicide and herbicide for nuisance aquatic plants (McKnight et al. 1983). Although copper is known as an inhibitor of photosynthesis and plant growth, toxicity data on individual species suitable for deriving aquatic life criteria (Table 4a, b) are not numerous.

The relationship of copper toxicity to the complexing capacity of the water or the culture medium is now widely recognized (Gächter et al. 1973; Petersen 1982), and several studies have used algae to "assay" the copper complexing capacity of both fresh and salt waters (Allen et al. 1983; Lumsden and Florence 1983; Rueter 1983). It has also been shown that algae are capable of excreting complexing substances in response to copper stress (McKnight and Morel 1979; Swallow et al. 1978; van den Berg et al. 1979). Foster (1982) and Stokes and Hutchinson (1976) have identified resistant strains and/or species of algae from copper (or other metal) impacted environments. A portion of this resistance probably results from induction of the chelate-excretion mechanism. Chelate excretion by algae may also serve as a

protective mechanism for other aquatic organisms in eutrophic waters; that is, where algae are capable of maintaining free copper activities below harmful concentrations.

Copper concentrations from 1 to 8,000 µg/L have been shown to inhibit growth of various freshwater plant species. Very few of these tests, though, were accompanied by analysis of actual copper exposure concentrations. Notable exceptions are freshwater tests with green alga, including *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* (Schafer et al. 1993; Winner and Owen 1991b), which is the only flow-through, measured test with an aquatic plant, *Chlorella vulgaris* and *Selenastrum capricornutum* (Blaylock et al. 1985). There is also a measured test with duckweed (Taraldsen and Norberg-King 1990).

A direct comparison between the freshwater plant data and the BLM derived criteria is difficult to make without a better understanding of the composition of the algal media used for different studies (e.g., DOC, hardness, and pH) because these factors influence the applicable criteria comparison. BLM derived criteria for certain water conditions, such as low to mid-range pH, hardness up to 100 mg/L as CaCO₃, and low DOC are in the range of, if not lower than, the lowest reported toxic endpoints for freshwater algal species and would therefore appear protective of plant species. In other water quality conditions BLM-derived criteria may be significantly higher (see Figure 6).

Data are available on the toxicity of copper in saltwater to several species of macroalgae and microalgae (Table 4b). A comparison of effect levels seen in tests with saltwater plants and the CMC and CCC established to protect saltwater animals indicates that only one test result falls slightly below the CCC. One static unmeasured test, with the microalgae *Scrippsiella faeroense*, provides an 8-day growth EC50 of $<1 \mu g/L$ (Saifullah 1978). However, this result failed to include a reported background copper concentration of 1.86-4.18 $\mu g/L$, placing this response in the range of <2.86-<5.18. In addition, the study included a second experiment with the same species and an 8-day growth EC50 of 5 $\mu g/L$; adding in the reported background range brings this EC50 to 6.86–9.18 $\mu g/L$. Thus, the animal CCC appears adequate for protecting against chronic seawater plant effects observed in tests included in Table 4b.

Two publications provide data for the red algae *Champia parvula* that indicate that reproduction of this species is especially sensitive to copper. The methods manual (U.S. EPA 1988) for whole effluent toxicity (WET) testing contains the results of six experiments showing nominal reproduction LOECs from 48-hr exposures to 1.0 to 2.5 μ g/L copper (mean 2.0 μ g/L); these tests used a mixture of 50 percent sterile seawater and 50 percent GP2 medium copper. The second study by Morrison et al. (1989) evaluated interlaboratory variation of the 48-hr WET test procedure; this six-test study gave growth EC50 values from 0.8 to 1.9 μ g/L (mean 1.0 μ g/L). Thus, there are actually 12 tests that provide evidence of significant reproductive impairment in *C. parvula* at nominal copper concentrations between 0.8 and 2.5 μ g/L, which is in the range of the saltwater CCC. For these studies though, the dilution water source was not identified.

One difficulty in assessing these data is the uncertainty of the copper concentration in the test solutions, primarily with respect to any background copper that might be found in the dilution water, especially with solutions compounded from sea salts or reagents. Thus, with a CCC of 1.9 μ g/L dissolved copper, the significance of a 1 or 2 μ g/L background copper level to a 1 to 3 μ g/L nominal effect level can be considerable.

The reproduction of other macroalgae appears to be generally sensitive to copper, but not to the extent of *Champia*. Many of these other macroalgae appear to have greater ecological significance than *Champia*, several forming significant intertidal and subtidal habitats for other saltwater organisms, as well as being a major food source for grazers. Reproductive and growth effects on the other species of macroalgae sometimes appear to occur at copper concentrations between 5 and 10 μ g/L (Appendix C, Other Data). Thus, most major macrophyte groups seem to be adequately protected by the CMC and CCC, but appear similar in sensitivity to some of the more sensitive groups of saltwater animals.

7.0 BIOACCUMULATION OF COPPER

Because no regulatory action levels for copper and human health are applicable to aquatic organisms, and no consumption limits are established for wildlife, there is no basis for developing a residue-based criterion (or final residue value) for copper based on EPA's current Guidelines.

As more information is acquired about food consumption as a route of copper exposure to fish and macroinvertebrates, bioaccumulation potential—and the link to environmental source concentrations—may become a considerably more important factor in establishing criteria. Currently, the database available for calculating potential bioconcentration (from the water) or bioaccumulation (from all sources) is limited. This is especially true given the current Guidelines requirement for deriving BCFs that all water concentrations be adequately quantitated, and that tissue levels be approaching steady state or else that tests be at least 28 days in duration. Additionally, bioconcentration factors for copper usually are not constant; instead, they generally decrease as aqueous copper concentrations increase (McGeer et al. 2003).

After culling the data according to the Guidelines, the only acceptable bioaccumulation factors for copper (Table 5a, b) were juvenile fathead minnows (464), Asiatic clams (45,300), polychaete worms (1,006–2,950), mussels (2,491–7,730), and Pacific oysters (33,400–57,000).

8.0 OTHER DATA

Many of the data identified for this effort are listed in Appendix C, Other Data, for various reasons, including exposure durations other than 96 hours with the same species reported in Tables 1a and 1b, with some exposures lasting up to 30 days. Acute values for test durations less than 96 hours are available for several species not shown in Tables 1a and 1b. Still, these species have approximately the same sensitivities to copper as species in the same families listed in Tables 1a and 1b. Reported LC50s at 200 hours for chinook salmon and rainbow trout (Chapman 1978) differ only slightly from 96-hour LC50s reported for these same species in the same water.

A number of other acute tests in Appendix C were conducted in dilution waters that were not considered appropriate for criteria development. Brungs et al. (1976) and Geckler et al. (1976) conducted tests with many species in stream water that contained a large amount of effluent from a sewage treatment plant. Wallen et al. (1957) tested mosquitofish in a turbid pond water. Until chemical measurements that correlate well with the toxicity of copper in a wide variety of waters are identified and widely used, results of tests in unusual dilution waters, such as those in Appendix C, will not be very useful for deriving water quality criteria.

Appendix C also includes tests based on physiological effects, such as changes in growth, appetite, blood parameters, stamina, etc. These were included in Appendix C because they could not be directly interpreted for derivation of criteria.

A direct comparison of a particular test result to a BLM-derived criterion is not always straightforward, particularly if complete chemical characterization of the test water is not available. Such is the case for a number of studies included in Appendix C. While there are some test results with effect concentrations below the example criteria concentrations presented in this document, these same effect concentrations could be above criteria derived for other normalization chemistries, raising the question as to what is the appropriate comparison to make. For example, Appendix C includes an EC50 for *D. Pulex* of 3.6 μ g/L (Koivisto et al. 1992) at an approximate hardness of 25 mg/L (33 mg/L as CaCO₃). Yet, example criteria at a hardness of 25 mg/L (as CaCO₃) (including those in Figure 6) range from 0.23 μ g/L (DOC = 0.1 mg/L) to 4.09 μ g/L (DOC = 2.3 mg/L) based on the DOC concentration selected for the

synthetic water recipe. The chemical composition for the Koivisto et al. (1992) study would dictate what the appropriate BLM criteria comparison should be.

Based on the expectation that many of the test results presented in Appendix C were conducted in laboratory dilution water with low levels of DOC, the appropriate comparison would be to the criteria derived from low DOC waters. Comparing many of the values in Appendix C to the example criteria presented in this document, it appears that a large proportion of Appendix C values are above these concentration levels. This is a broad generalization though and as stated previously, all important water chemistry variables that affect toxicity of copper to aquatic organisms should be considered before making these types of comparisons.

Studies not considered suitable for criteria development were placed in Appendix I, Unused Data.

9.0 NATIONAL CRITERIA STATEMENT

The procedures described in the "Guidelines for Deriving Numerical National Water Quality Criteria for the Protection of Aquatic Organisms and Their Uses" indicate that, except where a locally important species is very sensitive, freshwater aquatic organisms and their uses should not be affected unacceptably if the 4-day average concentration of dissolved copper does not exceed the BLM-derived site-water LC50 (i.e., FAV) divided by the FACR more than once every 3 years on the average (i.e., the CCC) and if the 24-hour average dissolved copper concentration does not exceed the BLM-derived site-LC50 (or FAV) divided by two, more than once every 3 years on the average (i.e., the CMC).

The procedures described in the "Guidelines for Deriving Numerical National Water Quality Criteria for the Protection of Aquatic Organisms and Their Uses" indicate that, except where a locally important species is very sensitive, saltwater aquatic organisms and their uses should not be affected unacceptably if the 4-day average concentration of dissolved copper does not exceed 1.9 μ g/L more than once every 3 years on the average and if the 24-hour average concentration does not exceed 3.1 μ g/L more than once every 3 years on the average.

A return interval of 3 years continues to be EPA's general recommendation. However, the resilience of ecosystems and their ability to recover differ greatly. Therefore, a site-specific return interval for the criteria may be established if adequate justification is provided.

10.0 IMPLEMENTATION

The use of criteria in designing waste treatment facilities requires selection of an appropriate wasteload allocation model. Dynamic models are preferred for application of these criteria. Limited data or other factors may make their use impractical, in which case one should rely on a steady-state model. EPA recommends the interim use of 1Q5 or 1Q10 for criterion maximum concentration design flow and 7Q5 or 7Q10 for the criterion continuous concentration design flow in steady-state models for unstressed and stressed systems, respectively. These matters are discussed in more detail in the Technical Support Document for Water Quality-Based Toxics Control (U.S. EPA 1991).

With regard to BLM-derived freshwater criteria, to develop a site-specific criterion for a stream reach, one is faced with determining what single criterion is appropriate even though a BLM-calculated "instantaneous criterion" (i.e., a criterion value appropriate for specific water chemistry conditions at a particular instant) will be time-variable. This is not a new problem unique to the BLM—hardness-dependent metals criteria are also time-variable values. Although the variability of hardness over time can be characterized, EPA has not provided guidance on how to calculate site-specific criteria considering this variability. Multiple input parameters for the BLM complicate the calculation of site-specific criteria because of their combined effects on variability. EPA is currently in the process of developing guidance

on how to address these factors. Presently, EPA expects that few sites have sufficient data for all the input parameters to enable adequate characterization of the inherent variation at a site. Therefore, EPA is currently evaluating probabilistic techniques (Monte Carlo techniques) and statistical analyses to address this issue and anticipates publishing separate BLM implementation guidance.

11.0 REFERENCES

Abbasi, A.R. and S.E. Sheckley. 1995. Effects of copper on newly hatched larvae of herring, *Clupea harengus* L. Pak. J. Zool. 27(4):285-290.

Abbasi, A.R., S.E. Shackley and P.E. King. 1995. Effects of copper on the ultrastructure of brain cells of Atlantic herring, *Clupea harengus* L. Pak. J. Zool. 27(3):203-206.

Academy of Natural Sciences. 1960. The sensitivity of aquatic life to certain chemicals commonly found in industrial wastes. Philadelphia, PA.

Alam, M.K. and O.E. Maughan. 1992. The effect of malathion, diazinon, and various concentrations of zinc, copper, nickel, lead, iron, and mercury on fish. Biol. Trace Elem. Res. 34(3):225-236.

Allen, H.E. and D.J. Hansen. 1996. The importance of trace metal speciation to water quality criteria. Water Environ. Res. 68:42-54.

Allen, H.E. et al. 1983. An algal assay method for determination of copper complexation capacities of natural waters. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 30:448.

Anderson, B.G. 1944. The toxicity thresholds of various substances found in industrial wastes as determined by *Daphnia magna*. Sewage Works J. 16:1156-1164.

Anderson, B.G. 1948. The apparent thresholds of toxicity to *Daphnia magna* for chlorides of various metals when added to Lake Erie water. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 78:96.

Anderson, B.S., J.W. Hunt, S.L. Turpen, A.R. Coulon and M. Martin. 1990. Copper toxicity to microscopic stages of giant kelp *Macrocystis pyrifera*: Interpopulation comparisons and temporal variability. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 68(1-2):147-156.

Anderson, B.S., D.P. Middaugh, J.W. Hunt and S.L. Turpen. 1991. Copper toxicity to sperm, embryos, and larvae of topsmelt *Atherinops affinis*, with notes on induced spawning. Mar. Environ. Res. 31(1):17-35.

Anderson, D.M. and F.M.M. Morel. 1978. Copper sensitivity of *Gonyaulax tamarensis*. Limnol. Oceanogr. 23: 283-295.

Anderson, P.D. and P.A. Spear. 1980a. Copper pharmacokinetics in fish gills- I. Kinetics in pumpkinseed sunfish, *Lepomis gibbosus*, of different body sizes. Water Res. 14:1101.

Anderson, P.D. and P.A. Spear. 1980b. Copper pharmacokinetics in fish gills- II. Body size relationships for accumulation and tolerance. Water Res. 14:1107.

Anderson, R.L., C.T. Walbridge and J.T. Fiandt. 1980. Survival and growth of *Tanytarsus dissimilis* (Chrionomidae) exposed to copper, cadmium, zinc, and lead. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 9:329.

Anderson, R.S., L.M. Mora and S.A. Thomson. 1994b. Modulation of oyster (*Crassostrea virginica*) hemocyte immune function by copper, as measured by luminol-enhanced chemiluminescence. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 108C(2):215-220.

Andersson, S. and L. Kautsky. 1996. Copper effects on reproductive stages of Baltic Sea *Fucus vesiculosus*. Mar. Biol. (Berl.) 125(1):171-176.

Andrew, R.W. 1976. Toxicity relationships to copper forms in natural waters. In: Toxicity to biota of metal forms in natural water. Andrew, R.W. et al. (Eds.) International Joint Commission, Windsor, Ontario, Canada. p. 127.

Andrew, R.W. et al. 1977. Effects of inorganic complexing on toxicity of copper to *Daphnia magna*. Water Res. 11:309.

Andros, J.D. and R.R. Garton. 1980. Acute lethality of copper, cadmium, and zinc to northern squawfish. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 109:235.

Arillo, A. et al. 1984. Biochemical effects of long-term exposure to cadmium and copper on rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri*): Validation of water quality criteria. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Safety 8:106.

Arthur, J.W. and E.N. Leonard. 1970. Effects of copper on *Gammarus pseudolimnaeus, Physa integra*, and *Campeloma decisum* in soft water. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 27:1277-1283.

ASTM. 2000. Standard guide for conducting acute toxicity tests on test materials with fishes, macroinvertebrates, and amphibians. E729-96. In: Annual book of ASTM standards. Section 11, Volume 5. American Society for Testing and Materials, Pennsylvania, PA.

Bailey, H.C. and D.H.W. Liu. 1980. *Lumbricalus variegatus*, a benthic oligochaete, as a bioassay organism. In: Aquatic toxicology. Eaton, J.G. et al. (Eds.). ASTM STP 707. American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, PA. p. 205.

Bailey, H.C., J.L. Miller, M.J. Miller and B.S. Dhaliwal. 1995. Application of toxicity identification procedures to the echinoderm fertilization assay to identify toxicity in a municipal effluent. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 14(12):2181-2186.

Baird, D.J., I. Barber, M. Bradley, A.M.V.M. Soares and P. Calow. 1991. A comparative study of genotype sensitivity to acute toxic stress using clones of *Daphnia magna* Straus. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Safety 21(3):257-265.

Baker, J.T.P. 1969. Histological and electron microscopical observations on copper poisoning in the winter flounder (*Pseudopleuronectes americanus*). J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 26:2785-2793.

Bartlett, L. et al. 1974. Effects of copper, zinc and cadmium on Selanastrum capricornutum. Water Res. 8:179.

Beaumont, A.R., G. Tserpes and M.D. Budd. 1987. Some effects of copper on the veliger larvae of the mussel *Mytilus edulis* and the scallop *Pecten maximus* (Mollusca, Bivalvia). Mar. Environ. Res. 21(4):299-309.

Bechmann, R.K. 1994. Use of life tables and LC50 tests to evaluate chronic and acute toxicity effects of copper on the marine copepod *Tisbe furcata* (Baird). Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 13(9):1509-1517.

Bednarz, T. and H. Warkowska-Dratnal. 1983/1984. Toxicity of zinc, cadmium, lead, copper, and their mixture for *Chlorella pyrenoidosa*. Acta Hydrobiol. 25/26(3/4):389-400.

Belanger, S.E. and D.S. Cherry. 1990. Interacting effects of pH acclimation, pH, and heavy metals of acute and chronic toxicity to *Ceriodaphnia dubia* (Cladoceran). J. Crustacean Biol. 10(2):225-235.

Belanger, S.E., D.S. Cherry, J.L. Farris, K.G. Sappington and J. Cairns, Jr. 1991. Sensitivity of the Asiatic clam to various biocidal control agents. J. Am. Water Works Assoc. 83(10):79-87.

Belanger, S.E., J.L. Farris and D.S. Cherry. 1989. Effects of diet, water hardness, and population source on acute and chronic copper toxicity to *Ceriodaphnia dubia*. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 18(4):601-611.

Belanger, S.E., J.L. Farris, D.S. Cherry and J. Cairns, Jr. 1990. Validation of Corbicula fluminea growth reductions induced by copper in artificial streams and river systems. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 47(5):904-914.

Bellavere, C. and J. Gorbi. 1981. A comparative analysis of acute toxicity of chromium, copper and cadmium to *Daphnia magna, Biomphalaria glabrata*, and *Brachydanio rerio*. Environ. Technol. Lett. 2:119.

Benhra, A., C.M. Radetski and J.F. Ferard. 1997. Cryoalgotox: Use of cryopreserved alga in a semistatic microplate test. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 16(3):505-508.

Bennett, W.A., A. Sosa and T.L. Beitinger. 1995. Oxygen tolerance of fathead minnows previously exposed to copper. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 55(4):517-524.

Benoit, D.A. 1975. Chronic effects of copper on survival, growth, and reproduction of the bluegill (*Lepomis macrochirus*). Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 104:353-358.

Benson, W.H. and W.J. Birge. 1985. Heavy metal tolerance and metallothionein induction in fathead minnows (*Pimephales promelas*): Results from field and laboratory investigations. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 4(2):209-218.

Bergman, H.L. and E.J. Dorward-King, Eds. 1997. Reassessment of Metals Criteria for Aquatic Life Protection: Priorities for Research and Implementation, Proceedings of the SETAC Pellston Workshop on Reassessment of Metals Criteria for Aquatic Life Protection, February 10-14, 1996, Pensacola, Florida, SETAC Press, 114 pp.

Besser, J.M., J.F. Dwyer, C.G. Ingersoll, and N. Wang. 2001. Early life-stage toxicity of copper to endangered and surrogate fish species. EPA Project No. DW14937809-01-0. Office of Research and Development, Washington, DC.

Betzer, S.B. and P.P. Yevich. 1975. Copper toxicity in Busycon canaliculatun L. Biol. Bull. 148:16-25.

Biesinger, K.E. and G.M. Christensen. 1972. Effects of various metals on survival, growth, reproduction, and metabolism of *Daphnia magna*. Jour. Fish Res. Board Can. 29:1691.

Bilgrami, K.S. and S. Kumar. 1997. Effects of copper, lead and zinc on phytoplankton growth. Biol. Plant. 39(2):315-317.

Bills, T.D. et al. 1981. Polychlorinated biphenyl (Aroclor 1254) residues in rainbow trout: Effects of sensitivity to nine fishery chemicals. North Am. J. Fish. Manage. 1:200.

Birdsong, C.L. and J.W. Avault, Jr. 1971. Toxicity of certain chemicals to juvenile pompano. Prog. Fish Cult. 33:76-80.

Birge, W.J. 1978. Aquatic toxicology of trace elements of coal and fly ash. In: Energy and environmental stress in aquatic systems. Thorp, J.H. and J.W. Gibbons (Eds.). CONF-771114. D.O.E. Symposium Series, Vol. 48. National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA. p. 129-240.

Birge, W.J., W.H. Benson and J.A. Black. 1983. The induction of tolerance to heavy metals in natural and laboratory populations of fish. PB84-111756. National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA.

Birge, W.J. and J.A. Black. 1979. Effects of copper on embryonic and juvenile stages of aquatic animals. In: Copper in the environment. Part II. Health Effects. Nriagu, J.O. (Ed.). Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York, NY. 373-399.

Birge, W.J., J.A. Black and B.A. Ramey. 1981. The reproductive toxicology of aquatic contaminants. In: Hazard assessment of chemicals: Current developments. Vol. I. Saxena, J. and F. Fisher (Eds.). Academic Press, New York, NY. p. 59-115.

Birge, W.J., J.A. Black, A.G. Westerman and J.E. Hudson. 1980. Aquatic toxicity tests on inorganic elements occurring in oil shale. In: Oil shale syposium: Sampling, analysis and quality assurance. Gale, C. (Ed.). EPA-600/9-80-022. National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA. p. 519-534.

Birge, W.J., J.E. Hudson, J.A. Black and A.G. Westerman. 1978. Embryo-larval bioassays on inorganic coal elements and *in situ* biomonitoring of coal-waste effluents. In: Surface mining and fish/wildlife needs in the Eastern United States. Samuel, D.E. (Ed.). PB 298353. National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA. p. 97-104.

Black, J.A. and W.J. Birge. 1980. An avoidance response bioassay for aquatic pollutants. PB80-180490. National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA.

Blaise, C., R. Legault, N. Bermingham, R. van Coillie and P. Vasseur. 1986. A simple microplate algal assay technique for aquatic toxicity assessment. Toxic. Assess. 1(3):261-281.

Blaylock, B.G., M.L. Frank and J.F. McCarthy. 1985. Comparative toxicity of copper and acridine to fish, *Daphnia* and algae. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 4(1):63-71.

Borgmann, U. 1983. Metal speciation and toxicity of free metal ions to aquatic biota. In: J.O. Nriagu (Ed.). Aquatic Toxicology, Vol 13. John Wiley & Sons, New York, NY. p. 47-72.

Borgmann, U. and C.C. Charleton. 1984. Copper complexation and toxicity to *Daphnia* in natural waters. J. Great Lakes Res. 10(4):393-398.

Borgmann, U., W.P. Norwood and C. Clarke. 1993. Accumulation, regulation and toxicity of copper, zinc, lead and mercury in *Hyalella azteca*. Hydrobiologia 259(2):79-89.

Borgmann, U. and K.M. Ralph. 1983. Complexation and toxicity of copper and the free metal bioassay technique. Water Res. 17:1697-1703.

Borgmann, U. and K.M. Ralph. 1984. Copper complexation and toxicity to freshwater zooplankton. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 13:403-409.

Botton, M.L., K. Johnson and L. Helleby. 1998. Effects of copper and zinc on embryos and larvae of the horseshoe crab, *Limulus polyphemus*. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 35:25-32.

Boutet, C. and C. Chaisemartin. 1973. Specific toxic properties of metallic salts in *Austropotamobius pallipes* pallipes and *Orconectes limosus*. C.R. Soc. Biol. (Paris) 167:1973.

Bowen, H.J.M. 1985. In D. Hutzinger (ed.), The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry, Vol. 1, Part D: The natural environment and biogeochemical cycles, Springer-Verlag, New York. p. 1-26.

Braginskij, L.P. and E.P. Shcherban. 1978. Acute toxicity of heavy metals to aquatic invertebrates at different temperatures. Hydrobiol. J. 14(6):78.

Brandt, O.M., R.W. Fujimura and B.J. Finlayson. 1993. Use of *Neomysis mercedis* (Crustacea, Mysidacea) for estuarine toxicity tests. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 122(2):279-288.

Bright, G.R. 1995. Variability of the "water effect ratio" for copper toxicity - a case study. Proc. Toxic. Subst. Water Environ. 5/23-5/30. Water Environment Federation, Alexandria, VA.

Bringmann, G. 1975. Determination of the biologically harmful effect of water pollutants by means of the retardation of cell proliferation of the blue algae *Microcystis*. Gesund.-Ing. 96:238-241.

Bringmann, G. and R. Kuhn. 1959a. Comparative water-toxicological investigations on bacteria, algae, and daphnia. Gesundheits-Ing. 80:115-120.

Bringmann, G. and R. Kuhn. 1959b. Water toxicology studies with protozoans as test organisms. Gesund.-Ing. 80:239-242.

Bringmann, G. and R. Kuhn. 1976. Comparative results of the damaging effects of water pollutants against bacteria (*Pseudomonas putida*) and blue algae (*Microcystis aeruginosa*). Gas-Wasserfach, Wasser-Abwasser 117:410.

Bringmann, G. and R. Kuhn. 1977a. Limiting values for the damaging action of water pollutants to bacteria (*Pseudomonas putida*) and green algae (*Scenedesmus quadricauda*) in the cell multiplication inhibition test. Z. Wasser Abwasser Forsch. 10:87-98.

Bringmann, G. and R. Kuhn. 1978a. Limiting values for the noxious effects of water pollutant material to blue algae (*Microcystis aeruginosa*) and green algae (*Scenedesmus quadricauda*) in cell propagation inhibition tests. Vom Wasser 50:45-60.

Bringmann, G. and R. Kuhn. 1978b. Testing of substances for their toxicity threshold: Model organisms *Microcystis* (Diplocystis) *aeruginosa* and *Scendesmus quadricauda*. Mitt. Int. Ver. Theor. Angew. Limnol. 21:275-284.

Bringmann, G. and R. Kuhn. 1979. Comparison of toxic limiting concentrations of water contaminants toward bacteria, algae, and protozoa in the cell-growth inhibition test. Haustech. Bauphys. Umwelttech. 100:249-252.

Bringmann, G. and R. Kuhn. 1980a. Comparison of the toxicity thresholds of water pollutants to bacteria, algae, and protozoa in the cell multiplication inhibition test. Water Res. 14:231-241.

Bringmann, G. and R. Kuhn. 1980b. Determination of the harmful biological effect of water pollutants on protozoa. II. Bacteriovorous ciliates. Z. Wasser Abwasser Forsch. 13:26-31.

Bringmann, G. and R. Kuhn. 1981. Comparison of the effects of harmful substances on flagellates as well as ciliates and on halozoic bacteriophagous and saprozoic protozoa. Gas-Wasserfach, Wasser-Abwasser 122:308.

Brown, V.M. 1968. The calculations of the acute toxicity of mixtures of poisons to rainbow trout. Water Res. 2:723-733.

Brown, V.M. and R.A. Dalton. 1970. The acute toxicity to rainbow trout of mixtures of copper, phenol, zinc and nickel. J. Fish Biol. 2:211.

Brown, B.T. and B.M. Rattigan. 1979. Toxicity of soluble copper and other metal ions to *Elodea canadensis*. Environ. Pollut. 18:303.

Brown, V.M., T.L. Shaw and D.G. Shurben. 1974. Aspects of water quality and toxicity of copper to rainbow trout. Water Res. 8:797.

Brungs, W.A., E.N. Leonard and J.M. McKim. 1973. Acute and long-term accumulation of copper by the brown bullhead, *Ictalurus nebulosus*. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 30(4):583-586.

Brungs, W.A., J.R. Geckler and M. Gast. 1976. Acute and chronic toxicity of copper to the fathead minnow in a surface water of variable quality. Water Res. 10:37-43.

Buckley, J.A. 1983. Complexation of copper in the effluent of a sewage treatment plant and an estimate of its influence on toxicity to coho salmon. Water Res. 17(12):1929-1934.

Buckley, J.T., M. Roch, J.A. McCarter, C.A. Rendell and A.T. Matheson. 1982. Chronic exposure to coho salmon to sublethal concentrations of copper - I. Effect on growth, on accumulation and distribution of copper, and on copper tolerance. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 72C:15-19.

Buhl, K.J. and S.J. Hamilton. 1990. Comparative toxicity of inorganic contaminants released by placer mining to early life stages of salmonids. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Safety 20(3):325-42.

Buhl, K.J. and S.J. Hamilton. 1996. Toxicity of inorganic contaminants, individually and in environmental mixtures, to three endangered fishes (Colorado squawfish, bonytail, and razorback sucker). Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 30(1):84-92.

Buikema, A.L., Jr., J. Cairns, Jr. and W.H. Yongue, Jr. 1983. Correlation between the autotrophic index and protozoan colonization rates as indicators of pollution stress. In: Aquatic toxicology and hazard assessment: Sixth symposium. Bishop, W.E., R.D. Cardwell and B.B. Heidolph (Eds.). ASTM STP 802. American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, PA. pp. 204-215.

Burton, D.T. and D.J. Fisher. 1990. Acute toxicity of cadmium, copper, zinc, ammonia, 3,3'-dichlorobenzidine, 2,6-dichloro-4-nitroaniline, methylene chloride, and 2,4,6-trichlorophenol to juvenile grass shrimp and killifish. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 44(5):776-783.

Cacela, D., R. Hudson, J. Lipton, J. Marr, T. Podrabsky, and P. Welsh. 1996. Preliminary Toxicological Evaluation U.S. v. Iron Mountain Mines, Inc. Prepared by Hagler Bailly Consulting, Inc. Boulder, CO.

Cairns, J., Jr., A.L. Buikema, Jr., A.G. Heath and B.C. Parker. 1978. Effects of temperature on aquatic organism sensitivity to selected chemicals. Bulletin 106. Virginia Water Resources Research Center, Blacksburg, VA.

Cairns, J., Jr. and A. Scheier. 1968. A comparison of the toxicity of some common industrial waste components tested individually and combined. Prog. Fish Cult. 30:3.

Cairns, J., Jr., D.I. Messenger and W.F. Calhoun. 1976. Invertebrate response to thermal shock following exposure to acutely sub-lethal concentrations of chemicals. Arch. Hydrobiol. 77:164-175.

Cairns, J., Jr., K.W. Thompson and A.C. Hendricks. 1981. Effects of fluctuating, sublethal applications of heavy metal solutions upon the gill ventilation response of bluegills (*Lepomis macrochirus*). EPA-600/3-81-003. National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA.

Cairns, J., Jr. et al. 1980. Effects of a sublethal dose of copper sulfate on the colonization rate of freshwater protozoan communities. Am. Midl. Nat. 104:93.

Calabarese, A., R.S. Collier, D.A. Nelson and J.R. MacInnes. 1973. The toxicity of heavy metals to embryos of the American oyster *Crassostrea virginica*. Mar. Biol. 18:162.

Calabrese, A., J.R. MacInnes, D.A. Nelson and J.E. Miller. 1977. Survival and growth of bivalve larvae under heavy-metal stress. Mar. Biol. 41:179-1984.

Calabrese, A., J.R. MacInnes, D.A. Nelson, R.A. Greig and P.P. Yevich. 1984. Effects of long-term exposure to silver or copper on growth, bioaccumulation and histopathology in the blue mussel *Mytilus edulis*. Mar. Environ. Res. 11(4):253-274.

Calamari, D. and R. Marchetti. 1973. The toxicity of mixtures of metals and surfactants to rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri* Rich.). Water Res. 7:1453-1464.

Calamari, D. and R. Marchetti. 1975. Predicted and observed acute toxicity of copper and ammonia to rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri* Rich.). Prog. Water Technol. 7:569-577.

Campbell, P.G.C. 1995. "Interactions Between Trace Metals and Aquatic Organisms: A Critique of the Free-ion Activity Model," in *Metal Speciation and Bioavailability in Aquatic Systems*, A. Tessier and D.R. Turner, eds., John Wiley and Sons, New York, pp. 45-102.

Cardin, J.A. 1982. U.S. EPA, (Memorandum to John H. Gentile. U.S. EPA, Narragansett, RI.

Carlson, A.R., W.A. Brungs, G.A. Chapman and D.J. Hansen. 1984. Guidelines for deriving numerical aquatic sitespecific water quality criteria by modifying national criteria. EPA-600/3-84-099, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Environmental Research Laboratory, Duluth, Minnesota, USA.

Carlson, A.R., H. Nelson and D. Hammermeister. 1986. Development and validation of site-specific water quality criteria for copper. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 5(11):997-1012.

CH2MHill. 1999a. Bioassay report: Acute toxicity of copper to summer flounder (*Paralichthys dentatus*). Final report prepared for U.S. Navy. November 1999. CH2MHill, Norfolk, Virginia. 26 p.

CH2MHill. 1999b. Bioassay report: Acute toxicity of copper to blue mussel (*Mytilus edulis*). Final report prepared for U.S. Navy. November 1999. CH2MHill, Norfolk, Virginia, 41 p.

Chagnon, N.L. and S.I. Guttman. 1989. Differential survivorship of allozyme genotypes in mosquitofish populations exposed to copper or cadmium. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 8(4):319-326.

Chakoumakos, C., R.C. Russo and R.V. Thurston. 1979. The toxicity of copper to cutthroat trout (*Salmo clarki*) under different conditions of alkalinity, pH, and hardness. Environ. Sci. Technol. 13:213-219.

Chambers, J.M., W.S. Cleveland, B. Kleiner and P.A. Tukey. 1983. Graphical Methods for Data Analysis. Duxbury Press, Boston.

Chapman, G.A. 1975. Toxicity of copper, cadmium and zinc to Pacific Northwest salmonids. U.S. EPA, Corvallis, OR.

Chapman, G.A. 1978. Toxicities of cadmium, copper, and zinc to four juvenile stages of chinook salmon and steelhead. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 107:841-847.

Chapman, G.A. 1982. U.S. EPA, Corvallis, OR (Letter to Charles E. Stephan. U.S. EPA, Duluth, MN. December 6).

Chapman, G.A. and J.K. McCrady. 1977. Copper toxicity: A question of form. In: Recent advances in fish toxicology. Tubb, R.A. (Ed.). EPA-600/3-77-085. National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA. p. 132.

Chapman, G.A., S. Ota and F. Recht. Manuscript. Effects of water hardness on the toxicity of metals to *Daphnia magna*. U.S. EPA, Corvallis, OR.

Chapman, G.A. and D.G. Stevens. 1978. Acute lethal levels of cadmium, copper, and zinc to adult male coho salmon and steelhead. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 107:837-840.

Charoy, C.P., C.R. Janssen, G. Persoone and P. Clement. 1995. The swimming behavior of *Brachionus calyciflorus* (Rotifer) under toxic stress. I. The use of automated trajectometry for determining sublethal effects of chemicals. Aquat. Toxicol. 32(4):271-282.

Chen, C.Y., K.C. Lin and D.T. Yang. 1997. Comparison of the relative toxicity relationships based on batch and continuous algal toxicity tests. Chemosphere 35(9):1959-1965.

Christensen, E.R., J. Scherfig and P.S. Dixon. 1979. Effects of manganese, copper, and lead on *Selenastrum* capricornutum and *Chlorella stigmatophora*. Water Res. 13:79-92.

Chung, I.K. and B.H. Brinkhuis. 1986. Copper effects in early life stages of the kelp, *Laminaria saccharina*. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 17(5):213-218.

Chynoweth, D.P., J.A. Black and K.H. Mancy. 1976. Effects of organic pollutants on copper toxicity to fish. In: Toxicity to biota of metal forms in natural water. Andrew, R.W. et al. (Eds.). International Joint Commission, Windsor, Ontario, Canada. p. 145.

City of San Jose. 1998. Development of a site-specific water quality criterion for copper in South San Francisco Bay. San Jose/Santa Clara Water Pollution Control Plant, San Jose, CA. 171 pp.

Clements, W.H., D.S. Cherry and J. Cairns, Jr. 1988. Structural alterations in aquatic insect communities exposed to copper in laboratory streams. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 7(9):715-722.

Clements, W.H., D.S. Cherry and J. Cairns, Jr. 1989a. The influence of copper exposure on predator-prey interactions in aquatic insect communities. Freshwater Biol. 21(3):483-488.

Clements, W.H., J.L. Farris, D.S. Cherry and J. Cairns, Jr. 1989b. The influence of water quality on macroinvertebrate community responses to copper in outdoor experimental streams. Aquat. Toxicol. 14(3):249-262.

Clements, W.H., D.S. Cherry and J. Cairns, Jr. 1990. Macroinvertebrate community responses to copper in laboratory and field experimental streams. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 19(3):361-365.

Clendenning, K.A. and W.J. North. 1959. Effects of wastes on the giant kelp, *Macrocystis pyrifera*. In: Proceedings of the first international conference on waste disposal in the marine environment. Pearson, E.A. (Ed.). Berkeley, California. p. 82.

Coglianese, M. and M. Martin. 1981. Individual and interactive effects of environmental stress on the embryonic development of the Pacific oyster, *Crassostrea gigas*. Part I. Toxicity of copper and silver. Mar. Environ. Res. 5:13-27.

Collyard, S.A., G.T. Ankley, R.A. Hoke and T. Goldstein. 1994. Influence of age on the relative sensitivity of *Hyalella azteca* to diazinon, alkylphenol ethoxylates, copper, cadmium and zinc. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 26(1):110-113.

Connor, P.M. 1972. Acute toxicity of heavy metals to some marine larvae. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 3:190-192.

Conrad, G.W. 1988. Heavy metal effects on cellular shape changers, cleavage, and larval development of the marine gastropod mollusk, (*Ilyanassa obsoleta* Say). Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 41(1):79-85.

Cote, R. 1983. Toxic aspects of copper on the biomass and productivity of phytoplankton in the Saguenay River, Quebec. Hydrobiologia 98:85.

Couillard, Y., P. Ross and B. Pinel-Alloul. 1989. Acute toxicity of six metals to the rotifer *Brachionus calyciflorus*, with comparisons to other freshwater organisms. Toxic. Assess. 4(4):451-462.

Cowgill, U.M. and D.P. Milazzo. 1991a. Comparison of the effect of metallic copper and copper nitrate (Cu(NO₃)₂3H₂O) on *Ceriodaphnia dubia* utilizing the three-brood test. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 46(1):141-145.

Crecelius, E.A., J.T. Hardy, C.I. Gibson, R.L. Schmidt. C.W. Apts, J.M. Gurtisen and S.P. Joyce. 1982. Copper bioavailability to marine bivalves and shrimp: Relationship to cupric ion activity. Mar. Environ. Res. 6:13-26.

Cripe, G.M. 1994. Comparative acute toxicities of several pesticides and metals to *Mysidopsis bahia* and postlarval *Penaeus duorarum*. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 13(11):1867-1872.

Curtis, M.W., T.L. Copel and C.H. Ward. 1979. Acute toxicity of 12 industrial chemicals to freshwater and saltwater organisms. Water Res. 13:137-141.

Curtis, M.W. and C.H. Ward. 1981. Aquatic toxicity of forty industrial chemicals: Testing in support of hazardous substance spill prevention regulation. J. Hydrol. 51:359-367.

Cusimano, R.F., D.F. Brakke and G.A. Chapman. 1986. Effects of pH on the toxicities of cadmium, copper and zinc to steelhead trout (*Salmo gairdneri*). Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 43(8):1497-1503.

Davis, A. and D. Ashenberg. 1989. The aqueous geochemistry of the Berkeley Pit, Butte, Montana, U.S.A. Appl. Geochem. Vol (4):23-36.

Davis, J.C. and I.G. Shand. 1978. Acute and sublethal copper sensitivity, growth and saltwater survival in young Babine Lake sockeye salmon. Technical Report No. 847. Environment Canada, West Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada.

De Boeck, G., H. DeSmet and R. Blust. 1995. The effect of sublethal levels of copper on oxygen consumption and ammonia excretion in the common carp, *Cyprinus carpio*. Aquatic Toxicol. (Amsterdam) 32(2-3):127-141.

Deshmukh, S.S. and V.B. Marathe. 1980. Size related toxicity of copper and mercury to *Lebistes reticulata* (Peter), *Labeo rohita* (Ham.) and *Cyprinus carpio* (Linn.). Indian J. Exp. Biol. 18:421-423.

Diamond, J.M., C. Gerardi, E. Leppo and T. Miorelli. 1997a. Using a water-effect ratio approach to establish effects of an effluent-influenced stream on copper toxicity to the fathead minnow. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 16(7):1480-1487.

Diamond, J.M., D.E. Koplish, J. McMahon, III and R. Rost. 1997b. Evaluation of the water-effect ratio procedure for metals in a riverine system. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 16(3):509-520.

Dickson, K.L., J.P. Giesy, R. Parrish, and L Wolfe. 1994. Summary and conclusions. In Hamelink, J.L., P.F. Landrum, H.L. Bergman, and W.H. Benson, (Eds.). Bioavailability: Physical, Chemical, and Biological Interactions. Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, Florida, USA, pp 221-230.

Dinnel, P.A., J.M. Link, Q.J. Stober, M.W. Letourneau and W.E. Roberts. 1989. Comparative sensitivity of sea urchin sperm bioassays to metals and pesticides. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 18(5):748-755.

Di Toro, D.M. et al. 2001. The persistence and availability of metals in aquatic environments. International council on metals and the environment. Ottawa, Ontario, Canada.

Di Toro, D.M., H.E. Allen, H.L. Bergman, J.S. Meyer, P.R. Paquin and R.C. Santore, 2001. A Biotic Ligand Model of the Acute Toxicity of Metals. I. Technical Basis, *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*. 20:2383-2396.

Dixon, D.G. and J.W. Hilton. 1981b. Influence on available dietary carbohydrate content on tolerance of waterborne copper by rainbow trout, *Salmo gairdneri* Richardson. J. Fish Biol. 19:509-517.

Dixon, D.G. and J.B. Sprague. 1981a. Acclimation to copper by rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri*): A modifying factor in toxicity. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 38:880-888.

Dixon, W.J. and M.B. Brown (Eds). 1979. BMDP biomedical computer programs, P-series. University of California, Berkeley, CA.

Dobbs, M.G., J.L. Farris, R.J. Reash, D.S. Cherry and J. Cairns, Jr. 1994. Evaluation of the resident-species procedure for developing site-specific water quality criteria for copper in Blaine Creek, Kentucky. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 13(6):963-971.

Dodge, E.E. and T.L. Theis. 1979. Effect of chemical speciation on the uptake of copper by *Chironomus tentans*. Environ. Sci. Technol. 13:1287.

Donaldson, E.M. and H.M. Dye. 1975. Corticosteriod concentrations in sockeye salmon (*Oncorhynchus nerka*) exposed to low concentrations of copper. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 32:533-539.

Dorfman, D. 1977. Tolerance of *Fundulus heteroclitus* to different metals in salt waters. Bull. N.J. Acad. Sci. 22:21-23.

Drummond, R.A. et al. 1973. Some short-term indicators of sublethal effects of copper on brook trout, *Salvelinus fontinalis*. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 30:698.

Dwyer, F.J., D.K. Hardesty, C.E. Henke, C.G. Ingersoll, D.W. Whites, D.R. Mount, C.M. Bridges. 1999. Assessing Contaminant Sensitivity Of Endangered and Threatened Species: Toxicant Classes. EPA/600/R-99/098.

Dwyer, J.F., L.C. Sappington, D.R. Buckler, and S.B. Jones. 1995. Use of Surrogate Species in Assessing Contaminant Risk to Endangered and Threatened Fishes. USEPA Project No: DWI14935155-01-0. Office of Research and Development, Washington, DC.

Eisler, R. 1977. Acute toxicities of selected heavy metals to the softshell clam, *Mya arenaria*. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 17:137.

Elder, J.F. and A.J. Horne. 1978. Copper cycles and $CuSO_4$ algicidal capacity in two California lakes. Environ. Manage. 2:17-30.

Ellgaard, E.G. and J.L. Guillot. 1988. Kinetic analysis of the swimming behavior of bluegill sunfish, *Lepomis macrochirus* Rafinesque, exposed to copper: Hypoactivity induced by sublethal concentrations. J. Fish Biol. 33(4):601-608.

Elnabarawy, M.T., A.N. Welter and R.R. Robideau. 1986. Relative sensitivity of three daphnid species to selected organic and inorganic chemicals. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 5(4):393-398.

Eloranta, P., T. Lahtinen and H. Salonen. 1988. Effects of some environmental factors on the pigments of duckweed (*Lemna minor* L.) Aqua Fenn. 18(1):75-84.

Eklund, B. 1993. A 7-day reproduction test with the marine red alga *Ceramium strictum*. Sci. Total Environ. 1 (Suppl.):749-759.

Engel, D.W., W.G. Sunda and R.M Thuotte. 1976. Effects of copper on marine eggs and larvae. Environ. Health Perspect. 17:288-289.

Environmental Services Department, City of San Jose. 1998. Development of a site-specific water quality criterion for copper in south San Francisco Bay. Environmental Services Department, City of San Jose, San Jose/Santa Clara Water Pollution Control Plant, 4245 Zanker Road, San Jose, CA. 171 pp. May.

Erickson, R.J., D.A. Benoit and V.R. Mattson. 1996a. A prototype toxicity factors model for site-specific copper water quality criteria. U.S. EPA, Duluth, Minnesota.

Erickson, R.J., D.A. Benoit, V.R. Mattson, H.P. Nelson, Jr. and E.N. Leonard. 1996b. The effects of water chemistry on the toxicity of copper to fathead minnows. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 15(2):181-193.

Erickson, S.J. 1972. Toxicity of copper to *Thalassiosira pseudonona* in unenriched inshore seawater. J. Phycol. 84:318.

Erickson, S.J. et al. 1970. A screening technique for estimating copper toxicity to estuarine phytoplankton. J. Water Pollut. Control Fed. 42:R270.

Farag, A.M., D.F. Woodward, J.N. Goldstein, W. Brumbaugh and J.S. Meyer. 1998. Concentrations of metals associated with mining waste in sediments, biofilm, benthic macroinvertebrates, and fish from the Coeur d'Alene River basin, Idaho. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 34:119-127.

Faust, S.D. and O.M. Aly. 1981. Chemistry of natural waters. Ann Arbor Science Publishers, Inc., Ann Arbor, MI.

Ferard, J.F., P. Vasseur and J.M. Jouary. 1983. Value of dynamic tests in acute ecotoxicity assessment in algae. In: Proceedings of the ninth annual aquatic toxicity workshop. McKay, W.C. (Ed.). Can. Tech. Rept. Fish. Aquat. Sci. No. 1163. University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada. p. 38-56.

Ferrando, M.D. and E. Andreu. 1993. Feeding behavior as an index of copper stress in *Daphnia magna* and *Brachionus calyciflorus*. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 106C(2):327-331.

Ferrando, M.D., M.E. Andreu and A. Fernadez-Casalderry. 1992. Relative sensitivity of *Daphnia magna* and *Brachionus calyciflorus* to five pesticides. J. Environ. Sci. Health 27B(5):511-522.

Ferrando, M.D., C.R. Janssen, E. Andreu and G. Persoone. 1993a. Ecotoxicological studies with the feshwater rotifer *Brachionus calyciflorus*. III. The effects of chemicals on the feeding behavior. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Safety 26(1):1-9.

Finlayson, B.J. and K.M. Verrue. 1982. Toxicities of copper, zinc, and cadmium mixtures to juvenile chinook salmon. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 111:645-650.

Fisher, N.S. and G.J. Jones. 1981. Heavy metals and marine phytoplankton: Correlation of toxicity and sulfhydrylbinding. J. Phycol. 17:108-.

Fletcher, R.L. 1989. A bioassay technique using the marine fouling green alga entermorpha. Int. Biodeterior. 25(6):407-422.

Fogels, A. and J.B. Sprague. 1977. Comparative short-term tolerance of zebrafish, flagfish, and rainbow trout to five poisons including potential reference toxicants. Water Res. 11:811-817.

Folmar, L.C. 1976. Overt avoidance reaction of rainbow trout fry to nine herbicides. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 15:509-513.

Fort, D.J., E.L. Stover and J.A. Bantle. 1996. Integrated ecological hazard assessment of waste site soil extracts using FETAX and short-term fathead minnow teratogenesis assay. In: Environmental toxicology and risk assessment. Fourth Volume. La Point, T.W., F.T. Price and E.E. Little (Eds.). ASTM STP 1262. American Society for Testing and Materials. Philadelphia, PA. 93-109.

Foster, P.L. 1982. Metal resistances of chlorophyta from rivers polluted by heavy metals. Freshwater Biol. 12:41.

Francis, J.C. and F.W. Harrison. 1988. Copper and zinc toxicity in *Ephydatia fluviatilis* (Porifera: Spongillidae). Trans. Am. Microsc. Soc. 107(1):67-78.

Gächter, R., K. Lum-Shue-Chan and Y.K Chau. 1973. Complexing capacity of the nutrient medium and its relation to inhibition of algal photosynthesis by copper. Schweiz. Z. Hydrol. 35:252.

Gaffney, P.M. Identification of Mussel (*Mytilus*) species. College of Marine Studies, University of Delaware, Lewes, DE. October 29, 1997.

Gardner, G.R. and G. LaRoche. 1973. Copper induced lesions in estuarine teleosts. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 30:363.

Garman, G.D., M.D. Pillai and G.N. Cherr. 1994. Inhibition of cellular events during early algal gametophyte development: Effects of select metals and an aqueous petroleum waste. Aquat. Toxicol. 28(1-2):127-144.

Garvey, J.E., H.A. Owen and R.W. Winner. 1991. Toxicity of copper to the green alga, *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* (Chlorophyceae), as affected by humic substances of terrestrial and freshwater origin. Aquat. Toxicol. 19(2):89-96.

Gauss, J.D., P.E. Woods, R.W. Winner and J.H. Skillings. 1985. Acute toxicity of copper to three life stages of *Chironomus tentans* as affected by water hardness-alkalinity. Environ. Pollut. 37A(2):149-57.

Geckler, J.R., W.B. Horning, T.M. Neiheisel, Q.H. Pickering, E.L. Robinson and C.E. Stephan. 1976. Validity of laboratory tests for predicting copper toxicity in streams. EPA-600/3-76-116. National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA.

Gentile, S.M. 1982. U.S. EPA, City, ST (Memorandum to John H. Gentile. U.S. EPA, Narragansett, RI.

Giattina, J.D., R.R. Garton and D.G. Stevens. 1982. Avoidance of copper and nickel by rainbow trout as monitored by a computer-based data acquisition system. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 111:491-504.

Giesy, J.P., A. Newell and G.J. Leversee. 1983. Copper speciation in soft, acid, humic waters: Effects on copper bioaccumulation by and toxicity to *Simocephalus serrulatus* (Daphnidae). Sci. Total Environ. 28:23-36.

Giles, M.A. and J.F. Klaverkamp. 1982. The acute toxicity of vanadium and copper to eyed eggs of rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri*). Water Res. 16:885.

Goettl, J.P., Jr., J.R. Sinley and P.H. Davies. 1972. Water pollution studies. In: Colorado Fisheries Research Review No. 7. Yeager, L.E. and D.T. Weber (Eds.). Colorado Division of Wildlife, Fort Collins, CO. p. 36-49.

Goh, B.P.L. and L.M. Chou. 1997. Effects of the heavy metals copper and zinc on zooxanthellae cells in culture. Environ. Monitor. Assess. 44(1-3):11-19.

Gould, E., R.J. Thompson, L.J. Buckley, D. Rusanowsky and G.R. Sennefelder. 1988. Uptake and effects of copper and cadmium in the gonad of the scallop *Placopecten magellanicus*: Concurrent metal exposure. Mar. Biol. 97(2):217-223.

Grace, A.L. and L.F. Gainey, Jr. 1987. The effects of copper on the heart rate and filtration rate of *Mytilus edulis*. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 18(2):87-91.

Graney, R.L., Jr., D.S. Sherry and J. Cairns, Jr. 1983. Heavy metal indicator potential of the Asiatic clam (*Corbicula fluminea*) in artificial stream systems. Hydrobiologia 102:81-88.

Hale, J.G. 1977. Toxicity of metal mining wastes. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 17:66-73.

Hall, L.W., Jr., R.D. Anderson, J.V. Kilian, B.L. Lewis and K. Traexler. 1997. Acute and chronic toxicity of copper to the estuarine copepod *Eurytemora affinis*: Influence of organic complexation and speciation. Chemosphere 35(7):1567-1597.

Hamelink, J.L., P.F. Landrum, H.L. Bergman and W.H. Benson (eds.). Bioavailability: Physical, Chemical and Biological Interactions. Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, FL.

Hamilton, S.J. and K.J. Buhl. 1990. Safety assessment of selected inorganic elements to fry of chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*). Ecotoxicol. Environ. Safety 20(3):307-324.

Hamilton, S.J. and K.J. Buhl. 1997. Hazard assessment of inorganics, individually and in mixtures, to two endangered fish in the San Juan River, New Mexico. Environ. Toxicol. Water Qual. 12(3):195-209.

Han, B.C. and T.C. Hung. 1990. Green oysters caused by copper pollution on the Taiwan coast. Environ. Pollut. 64(4):347-362.

Hansen, D.J. 1983. U.S. EPA, Gulf Breeze, FL. (Memorandum to William A. Brungs. U.S. EPA, Narragansett, RI, March 21).

Hansen, J.A., J. Lipton, P.G. Welsh, D. Cacela. Relationship between exposure duration, tissue residues, growth, and mortality in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) sub-chronically exposed to copper. Final Report. Stratus Consulting Inc. September 20, 2000.

Hara, T.J., Y.M.C. Law and S. MacDonald. 1976. Effects of mercury and copper on the olfactory response in rainbow trout, *Salmo gairdneri*. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 33:1568-1573.

Harrison, F.L., J.P. Knezovich and D.W. Rice, Jr. 1981. Effects of copper on adult and early life stages on the freshwater clam, *Corbicula manilensis*. UCRL-52741. National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA.

Harrison, F.L., J.P. Knezovich and D.W. Rice, Jr. 1984. The toxicity of copper to the adult and early life stages of the freshwater clam, *Corbicula manilensis*. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 13:85-92.

Harrison, F.L. and D.W. Rice, Jr. 1981. The sensitivity of adult, embryonic, and larval carp *Cyprinus carpio* to copper. UCRL-52726. National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA.

Hartwell, S.I., J.H. Jin, D.S. Cherry and J. Cairns, Jr. 1989. Toxicity versus avoidance response of golden shiner, *Notemigonus crysoleucas*, to five metals. J. Fish Biol. 35(3):447-456.

Hawkins, A.J.S., J. Rusin, B.L. Bayne and A.J. Day. 1989. The metabolic/physiological basis of genotypedependent mortality during copper exposure in *Mytilus edulis*. Marine Environ. Res. 28:253-257.

Hazel, C.R. and S.J. Meith. 1970. Bioassay of king salmon eggs and sac fry in copper solutions. Calif. Fish Game. 56:121-124.

Heath, A.G. 1984. Changes in tissue adenylates and water content of bluegill, *Lepomis macrochirus*, exposed to copper. J. Fish Biol. 24:299-309.

Hedtke, S.F. 1984. Structure and function of copper-stressed aquatic microcosms. Aquat. Toxicol. 5:227-244.

Hem, J.D. 1989. Study and interpretation of the chemical characteristics of natural water, 3rd ed. U.S. Geological Survey water-supply paper 2253. Government Printing Office.

Henry, M.G. and G.J. Atchison. 1986. Behavioral changes in social groups of bluegills (*Lepomis macrochirus*) exposed to copper. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 115(4):590-595.

Herbert, D.W.M. and J.M. Vandyke. 1964. The toxicity to fish of mixtures of poisons. II. Copper-ammonia and zinc-phenol mixtures. Ann. Appl. Biol. 53:415-421.

Hildebrand, S.G. and R.M. Cushman. 1978. Toxicity of gallium and beryllium to developing carp eggs (*Cyprinus carpio*) utilizing copper as a reference. Toxicol. Lett. 2:91-95.

Hinton, M.J. and A.G. Eversole. 1978. Toxicity of ten commonly used chemicals to American eels. Proceedings of the Annual Conference of the South Eastern Association of Fish and Wildlife Agencies. 32:599-604.

Hinton, M.J. and A.G. Eversole. 1979. Toxicity of ten chemicals commonly used in aquaculture to the black eel stage of the American eel. In: Proceeding of the World Mariculture Society Avault, J.W., Jr. (Ed.). 10:554-560.

Hoare, K., A.R. Beaumont and J. Davenport. 1995a. Variation among populations in the resistance of *Mytilus edulis* embryos to copper: Adaptation to pollution? Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 120(1-3):155-161.

Hoare, K., J. Davenport and A.R. Beaumont. 1995b. Effects of exposure and previous exposure to copper on growth of veliger larvae and survivorship of *Mytilus edulis* juveniles. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 120(1-3):163-168.

Holland, G.A., J.E. Lasater, E.D. Neumann and W. E. Eldridge. 1960. Toxic effects of organic and inorganic pollutants on young salmon and trout. Research Bulletin No. 5. Washington Department of Fisheries.

Hollibaugh, D.L. et al. 1980. A comparison of the acute toxicities of ten heavy metals to the plankton from Sasnick Inlet, B.C., Canada. Estuarine Coastal Mar. Sci. 10:93-.

Hopkins, R. and J.M. Kain. 1971. The effect of marine pollutants on *Laminarea hyperboria*. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 2:75-77.

Horne, M.T. and W.A. Dunson. 1994. Exclusion of the Jefferson Salamander, *Ambystoma jeffersonianum*, from some potential breeding ponds in Pennsylvania: Effects of pH, temperature, and metals on embryonic development. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 27(3):323-330.

Horne, M.T. and W.A. Dunson. 1995. Effects of low pH, metals, and water hardness on larval amphibians. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 29(4):500-505.

Horning, W.B. and T.W. Neiheisel. 1979. Chronic effect of copper on the bluntnose minnow, *Pimephales notatus* (Rafinesque). Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 8:545-552.

Hossain, M.A., M. Shariff, A.T. Law and I. Patimah. 1995. Median lethal concentration of copper to goldfish *Carassius auratus* Linnaeus. Pak. J. Sci. Ind. Res. 38(5-6):196-199.

Howarth, R.S. and J.B. Sprague. 1978. Copper lethality to rainbow trout in waters of various hardness and pH. Water Res. 12:455-462.

Hubschman, J.H. 1967. Effects of copper on the crayfish *Orconectes rusticus* (Girard): I. Acute toxicity. Crustaceana 12:33-42.

Hughes, J.S. 1973. Acute toxicity of thirty chemicals to striped bass (*Morone saxatilis*). Western Association of State Game and Fish Commissioners, Salt Lake City, UT. July.

Hughes, M.M., M.A. Heber, G.E. Morrison, S.C. Schimmel and W.J. Berry. 1989. An evaluation of a short-term chronic effluent toxicity test using sheepshead minnow (*Cyprinodon variegatus*) larvae. Environ. Pollut. 60(1):1-14.

Huilsom, M.M. 1983. Copper-induced differential mortality in the mussel Mytilus edulis. Mar. Biol. 76:291-295.

Hutchinson, T.H., T.D. Williams and G.J. Eales. 1994. Toxicity of cadmium, hexavalent chromium and copper to marine fish larvae (*Cyprinodon variegatus*) and copepods (*Tisbe battagliai*). Mar. Environ. Res. 38(4):275-290.

HydroQual. 2001. Biotic Ligand Model (BLM) Version a008 User's Guide for Cu, Ag, & Cd. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency.

Ingersoll, C.G. and R.W. Winner. 1982. Effect on *Daphnia pulex* (De Geer) of daily pulse exposures to copper or cadmium. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 1:321-327.

Inglis, A. and E.L. Davis. 1972. Effects of water hardness on the toxicity of several organic and inorganic herbicides to fish. Technical Paper No. 67. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Washington, D.C.

Itow, T., R.E. Loveland and M.L. Botton. 1998. Developmental abnormalities in horseshoe crab embryos caused by exposure to heavy metals. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 35:33-40.

Jackim, E. 1973. Influence of lead and other metals on d-aminolevulinate dehydrase activity. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 30:560-562.

Jacobson, P.J., J.L. Farris, D.S. Cherry and R.J. Neves. 1993. Juvenile freshwater mussel (Bivalia: Unionidae) responses to acute toxicity testing with copper. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 12(5):879-883.

Jacobson, P.J., R.J. Neves, D.S. Cherry and J.L. Farris. 1997. Sensitivity of glochidial stages of freshwater mussels (Bivalvia: Unionidae) to copper. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 16(11):2384-2392.

Janes, N., Playle, R.C. 1995. Modeling silver binding to gills of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Env. Toxicol. Chem. 14, 1847-1858.

Janssen, C.R., M.D. Ferrando Rodrigo and G. 1993. Persoone. Ecotoxicological studies with the freshwater rotifer *Brachionus calyciflorus*. I. Conceptual framework and applications. Hydrobiologia 255-256:21-32.

Janssen, C.R., G. Persoone and T.W. Snell. 1994. Cyst-based toxicity tests. VIII. Short-chronic toxicity tests with the freshwater rotifer *Brachionus calyciflorus*. Aquat. Toxicol. 28:243-258.

Johnson, M.W. and J.H. Gentile. 1979. Acute toxicity of cadmium, copper, and mercury to larval American lobster *Homarus americanus*. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 22:258-264.

Jones, L.H., N.V. Jones and A.J. Radlett. 1976. Some effects of salinity on the toxicity of copper to the polychaete *Nereis diversicolor*. Estuarine Coastal Mar. Sci. 4:107-111.

Jop, K.M., A.M. Askew and R.B. Foster. 1995. Development of a water-effect ratio for copper, cadmium, and lead for the Great Works River in Maine using *Ceriodaphnia dubia* and *Salvelinus fontinalis*. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxciol. 54(1):29-35.

Joshi, A.G. and M.S. Rege. 1980. Acute toxicity of some pesticides and a few inorganic salts to the mosquitofish *Gambusia affinis* (Baird and Girard). Indian J. Exp. Biol. 18:435-437.

Juchelka, C.M. and T.W. Snell. 1994. Rapid toxicity assessment using rotifer ingestion rate. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxciol. 26(4):549-554.

Judy, R.D., Jr. 1979. The acute toxicity of copper to *Gammarus fasciatus* Say, a freshwater amphipod. Bull. Enviorn. Contam. Toxicol. 21:219-224.

Julliard, A.K., D. Saucier and L. Astic. 1993. Effects of chronic low-level copper exposure on ultrastructure of the olfactory system in the rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Histol. Histopathol. 8(4):655-672.

Kallanagoudar, Y.P. and H.S. Patil. 1997. Influence of water hardness on copper, zinc and nickel toxicity to *Gambusia affinis* (B and G). J. Environ. Biol. 18(4):409-413.

Kapur, K. and N.A. Yadav. 1982. The effects of certain heavy metal salts on the development of eggs in common carp, *Cyprinus carpio* var. *communis*. Acta Hydrochim. Hydrobiol. 10:517-522.

Kaur, K. and A. Dhawan. 1994. Metal toxicity to different life stages of *Cyprinus carpio* Linn. Indian J. Ecol. 21(2):93-95.

Kazlauskiene, N., A. Burba and G. Svecevicius. 1994. Acute toxicity of five galvanic heavy metals to hydrobionts. Ekologija. 1:33-36.

Keller, A.E. Unpublished. Personal Communication to U.S. EPA.

Keller, A.E. and S.G. Zam. 1991. The acute toxicity of selected metals to the freshwater mussel, *Anodonta imbecilis*. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 10(4):539-546.

Khangarot, B.S. 1981. Chelating agent EDTA decreases the toxicity of copper to fish. Curr. Sci. 50:246-248.

Khangarot, B.S. 1991. Toxicity of metals to a freshwater tubificid worm, *Tubifex tubifex* (Muller). Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxciol. 46(6):906-12.

Khangarot, B.S., V.S. Durve and V.K. Rajbanshi. 1981a. Toxicity of interactions of zinc-nickel, copper-nickel and zinc-nickel-copper to a freshwater teleost, *Lebistes reticulatus* (Peters), Acta Hydrochim. Hydrobiol. 9:495-503.

Khangarot, B.S., S. Mathur and V.S. Durve. 1981b. Studies on the acute toxicity of copper on selected freshwater organisms. Sci. Cult. 47:429-431.

Khangarot, B.S. and P.K. Ray. 1987. Studies on the acute toxicity of copper and mercury alone and in combination to the common guppy *Poecilia reticulata* (Peters). Arch. Hydrobiol. 110(2):303-314.

Khangarot, B.S. and P.K. Ray. 1989a. Investigation of correlation between physicochemical properties of metals and their toxicity to the water flea *Daphnia magna* Straus. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Safety 18(2):109-120.

Khangarot, B.S. and P.K. Ray. 1989b. Sensitivity of midge larvae of *Chironomus tentans* Fabricius (Diptera Chironomidae) to heavy metals. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 42(3):325-330.

Khangarot, B.S., A. Sehgal and M.K. Bachin. 1983. "Man and the Biosphere" - Studies on Sikkim Himalayas. Part I: Acute toxicity of copper and zinc to common carp *Cyprinus carpio* (Linn.) in soft water. Acta Hydrochim. Hydrobiol. 11:667-673.

Koivisto, S. and M. Ketola. 1995. Effects of copper on life-history traits of *Daphnia pulex* and *Bosmina longirostris*. Aquat. Toxicol. 32(2-3):255-269.

Koivisto, S., M. Ketola and M. Walls. 1992. Comparison of five cladoceran species in short- and long-term copper exposure. Hydrobiol. 248(2):125-136.

Koryakova, M.D. and O.M. Korn. 1993. Using barnacle larvae for evaluation of the toxicity of antifouling paint compounds. Russ. J. Mar. Biol. 19(3):212-216.

Kosalwat, P. and A.W. Knight. 1987. Acute toxicity of aqueous and substrate-bound copper to the midge, *Chironomus decorus*. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 16(3):275-282.

Kraak, M.H.S., D. Lavy, W.H.M. Peeters and C. Davids. 1992. Chronic ecotoxicity of copper and cadmium to the zebra mussel *Dreissena polymorpha*. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 23(3):363-369.

Kraak, M.H.S., H. Schoon, W.H.M. Peeters, and N.M. van Straalen. 1993. Chronic ecotoxicity of mixtures of copper, zinc, and cadmium to the zebra mussel *Dreissena polymorpha*. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Safety 25(3):315-327.

Lalande, M. and B. Pinel-Alloul. 1986. Acute toxicity of cadmium, copper, mercury and zinc to *Tropocyclops* prasinus mexicanus (Cyclopoida, Copepoda) from three Quebec lakes. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 5(1):95-102.

Laube, V.M. et al. 1980. Strategies of response to copper, cadmium, and lead by a blue-green and a green alga. Can. J. Microbiol. 26:1300-.

Lazorchak, J.M. and W.T. Waller. 1993. The relationship of total copper 48-H LC50s to *Daphnia magna* dry weight. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 12(5):903-911.

Leland, H.V. and J.L Carter. 1984. Effects of copper on species composition of periphyton in a Sierra Nevada, California, stream. Freshwater Biol. 14:281-296.

Leland, H.V. and J.L. Carter. 1985. Effects of copper on production of periphyton, nitrogen fixation and processing of leaf litter in a Sierra Nevada, California stream. Freshwater Biol. 15(2):155-173.

Les, A. and R.W. Walker. 1984. Toxicity and binding of copper, zinc, and cadmium by the blue-green alga, *Chroococcus paris*. Water Air Soil Pollut. 23:129-130.

Lett, P.F., G.J. Farmer and F.W.H. Beamish. 1976. Effect of copper on some aspects of the bioenergetics of rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri*). J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 33:1335-1342.

Lewis, M. 1978. Acute toxicity of copper, zinc, and manganese in single and mixed salt solutions to juvenile longfin dace, *Agosia chrysogaster*. J. Fish Biol. 13:695-700.

Lewis, S.D. and W.M. Lewis. 1971. The effect of zinc and copper on the osmolality of blood serum of the channel catfish, *Ictalurus punctatus* Rafinesque, and golden shiner, *Notemigonius crysoleucas* Mitchell. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 100:639-643.

Lilius, H., T. Hastbacka and B. Isomaa. 1995. A comparison of the toxicity of 30 reference chemicals to *Daphnia magna* and *Daphnia pulex*. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 14(12):2085-2088.

Lin, H.C. and W.A. Dunson. 1993. The effect of salinity on the acute toxicity of cadmium to the tropical, estuarine, hermaphroditic fish, *Rivulus marmoratus*: A comparison of Cd, copper, and zinc tolerance with *Fundulus heteroclitus*. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 25(1):41-7.

Lind, D., Alto and Chatterton. Manuscript. Regional copper-nickel study: Aquatic toxicology study. Preliminary draft report, Minnesota Environmental Quality Board, St. Paul, MN.

Lloyd, R. 1961. The toxicity of mixtures of zinc and copper sulphates to rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri* R.). Ann. Appl. Biol. 49:535-538.

Lopez, J.M., Lee, G.F. 1977. Water, Air and Soils Pollut. Vol. (8): 373.

Lorz, H.W. and B.P. McPherson. 1976. Effects of copper or zinc in fresh water on the adaptation to sea water and ATPase activity, and the effects of copper on migratory disposition of coho salmon (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*). J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 33:2023.

Lumsden, B.R. and T.M. Florence. 1983. A new algal assay procedure for the determination of the toxicity of copper species in seawater. Environ. Toxicol. Lett. 4:271.

Lussier, S.M., W.S. Boothman, S. Poucher, D. Champlin and A. Helmsteter. 1995. Derivation of conversion factors for dissolved saltwater aquatic life criteria for metals. Draft report to the U.S. EPA, Office of Water. U.S. EPA, Narragansett, RI. March 31, 1995.

Lussier, S.M., J.H. Gentile, and J. Walker. 1985. Acute and chronic effects of heavy metals and cyanide on *Mysidopsis bahia* (Crustacea:Mysidacea). Aquat. Toxicol. 7(1-2):25-35.

Lydy, M.J. and T.E. Wissing. 1988. Effect of sublethal concentrations of copper on the critical thermal maxima (CTMax) of the fantail (*Etheostoma flabellare*) and johnny (*E. nigrum*) darters. Aquat. Toxicol. 12(4):311-321.

Macdonald, J.M., J.D. Shields and R.K. Zimmer-Faust. 1988. Acute toxicities of eleven metals to early life-history stages of the yellow crab *Cancer anthonyi*. Mar. Biol. 98(2):201-207.

MacInnes, J.R. and A. Calabrese. 1978. Response of embryos of the American oyster, *Crassostrea virginica*, to heavy metals at different temperatures. In: Physiology and behavior of marine organisms. McLusky, D.S. and A.J. Berry (Eds.). Pergamon Press, New York, NY. pp. 195-202.

MacInnes, J.R. and F.P. Thurberg. 1973. Effects of metals on the behavior and oxygen consumption of the mud snail. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 4:1895.

MacRae, R.K., December, 1994. "The Copper Binding Affinity of Rainbow Trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) and Brook Trout (*Salvelinus fontinalis*) Gills," a thesis submitted to the Department of Zoology and Physiology and The Graduate School of the University of Wyoming in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Zoology and Physiology.

MacRae, R.K., D.E. Smith, N. Swoboda-Colberg, J.S. Meyer and H.L. Bergman. 1999. Copper binding affinity of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) and brook trout (*Salvelinus fontinalis*) gills: Implications for assessing bioavailable metal. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 18:1180-1189.

Marking, L.L., T.D. Bills and J.R. Crowther. 1984. Effects of five diets on sensitivity of rainbow trout to eleven chemicals. Prog. Fish Cult. 46:1-5.

Marr, J.C.A., J. Lipton, D. Cacela, J.A. Hansen, H.L. Bergman, J.S. Meyer and C. Hogstrand. 1996. Relationship between copper exposure duration, tissue copper concentration, and rainbow trout growth. Aquat. Toxicol. 36(1-2):17-30.

Marr, J.C.A., J. Lipton, D. Cacela, J.A. Hansen, J.S. Meyer and H.L. Bergman. Manuscript. Bioavailability and acute toxicity of copper to rainbow trout in the presence of organic acids simulating natural dissolved organic carbon. Mississippi-Alabama Sea Grant. Ocean Springs, MS.

Martin, M., J.W. Hunt, B.S. Anderson, S.L. Turpen and F.H. Palmer. 1989. Experimental evaluation of the mysid *Holmesimysis costata* as a test organism for effluent toxicity testing. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 8(11):1003-1012.

Martin, M., K. Osborn, P. Billig and N. Glickstein. 1981. Toxicities of ten metals to *Crassostrea gigas* and *Mytilus edulis* embryos and *Cancer magister* larvae. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 12:305-308.

Martin, M., M.D. Stephenson and J.H. Martin. 1977. Copper toxicity experiments in relation to abalone deaths observed in a power plant's cooling waters. Calif. Fish Game 63:95-100.

Martin, T.R. and D.M. Holdich. 1986. The acute lethal toxicity of heavy metals to peracarid crustaceans (with particular reference to fresh-water asellids and gammarids). Water Res. 20(9):1137-1147.

Martinicic, D., Z. Kwokal, Z. Peharec, D. Margus and M. Branica. 1992. Distribution of Zn, Pb, Cd and Cu between seawater and transplanted mussels (*Mytilus galloprovincialis*). Sci. Total Environ. 119:211-230.

McCarter, J.A. and M. Roch. 1983. Hepatic metallothionein and resistance to copper in juvenile coho salmon. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 74C:133-137.

McCrady, J.K. and G.A. Chapman. 1979. Determination of copper completing capacity of natural river water, well water and artificially reconstituted water. Water Res. 13:143-150.

McGeer, J.C., K.V. Brix, J.M. Skeaff, D.K. DeForest, S.I. Brigham, W.J. Adams, A. Green. 2003. Inverse relationship between bioconcentration factor and exposure concentration for metals: Implications for hazard assessment of metals in the aquatic environment. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 22:1017-1037.

McKim, J.M., G.M. Christensen and E.P. Hunt. 1970. Changes in the blood of brook trout (*Salvelinus fontinalis*) after short-term and long-term exposure to copper. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 27:1883-1889.

McKim, J.M., J.G. Eaton and G.W. Holcombe. 1978. Metal toxicity to embryos and larvae of eight species of freshwater fish - II. Copper. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 19:608-616.

McKnight, D.M. and F.M.M. Morel. 1979. Release of weak and strong copper-complexing agents by algae. Limnol. Oceanogr. 24:823.

McKnight, D.M. et al. 1983. CuSO4 treatment of nuisance algal blooms in drinking water reservoirs. Environ. Manage. 7:311.

McLeese, D.W. 1974. Toxicity of copper at two temperatures and three salinities to the American lobster (*Homarus americanus*). J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 31:1949.

McLeese, D.W. and S. Ray. 1986. Toxicity of cadmium chloride, cadmium-EDTA, copper(II) chloride, and copper-EDTA to marine invertebrates. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 36(5):749-755.

McLusky, D.S. and C.N.K. Phillips. 1975. Some effects of copper on the polychaete *Phyllodoce maculata*. Estuarine Coastal Mar. Sci. 3:103-108.

McNulty, H.R., B.S. Anderson, J.W. Hunt, S.L. Turpen and M.M. Singer. 1994. Age-specific toxicity of copper to larval topsmelt *Atherinops affinis*. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 13(3):487-492.

Meador, J.P. 1991. The interaction of pH, dissolved organic carbon, and total copper in the determination of ionic copper and toxicity. Aquat. Toxciol. 19(1):13-31.

Metaxas, A. and A.G. Lewis. 1991. Copper tolerance of *Skeletonema costatum* and *Nitzschia thermalis*. Aquat. Toxicol. 19(4):265-280.

Meyer, J.S. 2002. The utility of the terms "bioavailability" and "bioavailable fraction" for metals. Mar. Environ. Res. 53:417-423.

Meyer, J.S., C.J. Boese and S.A. Collyard. 2002. Whole-body accumulation of copper predicts acute toxicity to an aquatic oligochaete (*Lumbriculus variegatus*) as pH and calcium are varied. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. Part C 133:99-109.

Meyer, J.S., R.C. Santore, J.P. Bobbitt, L.D. DeBrey, C.J. Boese, P.R. Paquin, H.E. Allen, H.L. Bergman and D.M. Di Toro. 1999. Binding of nickel and copper to fish gills predicts toxicity when water hardness varies, but free-ion activity does not. Environ. Sci. Technol. 33:913-916.

Milanovich, F.P., R. Spies, M.S. Guram and E.E. Sykes. 1976. Uptake of copper by the polychaete *Cirriformia spirabranchia* in the presence of dissolved yellow organic matter of natural origin. Estuarine Coastal Mar. Sci. 4:585-588.

Miller, T.G. and W.C. MacKay. 1980. The effects of hardness, alkalinity and pH of test water on the toxicity of copper to rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri*). Water Res. 14:129-133.

Minicucci, D.D. 1971. Flow effects in aquatic bioassays (the toxicity of copper at various flow rates to the guppy, *Lebistes reticulatus*). M.S. Thesis. University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI.

Moore, M.N. and A.R.D. Stebbing. 1976. The quantitative cytochemical effects of three metal ions on the lysosomal hydrolase of a hydroid. J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. U.K. 56:995-1005.

Moraitou-Apostolopoulou, M. 1978. Acute toxicity of copper to a copepod. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 9:278-280.

Moraitou-Apostolopoulou, M. and G. Verriopoulos. 1982. Individual and combined toxicity of three heavy metals, Cu, Cd and Cr for the marine copepod *Tisbe holothuriae*. Hydrobiologia 87:83-.

Morel, F.M., 1983a. "Complexation: Trace Metals and Microorganisms," in Chapter 6 of *Principles of Aquatic Chemistry*, Wiley Interscience, New York, pp. 301-308.

Morel F.M.M. 1983b. Principles of Aquatic Chemistry. John Wiley and Sons, New York, NY.

Morel, F.M.M. and J.G. Hering, 1993, *Principles and Applications of Aquatic Chemistry*, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York.

Morgan, W.S.C. 1979. Fish locomotor behavior patterns as a monitoring tool. J. Water Pollut. Control Fed. 51:580-589. Morrison, G., E. Torello, R. Comeleo, R. Walsh, A. Kuhn, R. Burgess, M. Tagliabue and W. Greene. 1989. Intralaboratory precision of saltwater short-term chronic toxicity tests. J. Water Pollut. Control Fed. 61(11-12):1707-1710.

Mount, D.I. 1968. Chronic toxicity of copper to fathead minnows (*Pimephales promelas* Rafinesque). Water Res. 2:215-223.

Mount, D.I. and T.J. Norberg. 1984. A seven-day life-cycle cladoceran toxicity test. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 3:425-434.

Mount, D.I. and C.E. Stephan. 1969. Chronic toxicity of copper to the fathead minnow (*Pimephales promelas*) in soft water. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 26:2449-2457.

Mudge, J.E., T.E. Northstrom, G.S. Jeane, W. Davis and J.L. Hickam. 1993. Effect of varying environmental conditions on the toxicity of copper to salmon. In: Environmental toxicology and risk assessment. Gorsuch, J.W., F.J. Dwyer, C.G. Ingersoll and T.W. LaPoint (Eds.). ASTM STP 1216. American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, PA. pp. 19-33.

Munoz, M.J., M. Carballo and J.V. Tarazona. 1991. The effect of sublethal levels of copper and cyanide on some biochemical parameters of rainbow trout after subacute exposure. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 100C(3):577-582.

Nacci, D., E. Jackim and R. Walsh. 1986. Comparative evaluation of three rapid marine toxicity tests: Sea urchin early embryo growth test, sea urchin sperm cell toxicity tests and Microtox. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 5(6):521-525.

Nassiri, Y., J.L. Mansot, J. Wery, T. Ginsburger-Vogel and J.C. Amiard. 1997. Ultrastructural and electron energy loss spectroscopy studies of sequestration mechanisms of Cd and Cu in the marine diatom *Skeletonema costatum*. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 33(2):147-155.

Nebeker, A.V., M.A. Cairns, S.T. Onjukka and R.H. Titus. 1986a. Effect of age on sensitivity of *Daphnia magna* to cadmium, copper and cyanazine. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 5(6):527-530.

Nebeker, A.V., M.A. Cairns and C.M. Wise. 1984a. Relative sensitivity of *Chironomus tentans* life stages to copper. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 3(1):151-158.

Nebeker, A.V. and A.R. Gaufin. 1964. Bioassays to determine pesticide toxicity to the amphipod crustacean, *Gammarus lacustris*. Proc. Utah Acad. Sci. 41:64-67.

Nebeker, A.V., C. Savonen, R.J. Baker and J.K. McCrady. 1984b. Effects of copper, nickel and zinc on the lifecycle of the caddisfly *Clistoronia magnifica* (Limnephilidae). Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 3(4):645-649.

Nebeker, A.V., A. Stinchfield, C. Savonen and G.A. Chapman. 1986b. Effects of copper, nickel and zinc on three species of Oregon freshwater snails. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 5(9):807-811.

Nehring, R.B. 1976. Aquatic insects as biological monitors of heavy metal pollution. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 15:147-154.

Neiheisel, T.W. and M.E. Young. 1992. Use of three artificial sea salts to maintain fertile sea urchins (*Arbacia punctulata*) and to conduct fertilization tests with copper and sodium dodecyl sulfate. Enivron. Toxicol. Chem. 11:1179-1185.

Nelson, D.A., J.E. Miller and A. Calabrese. 1988. Effect of heavy metals on bay scallops, surf clams, and blue mussels in acute and long-term exposures. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 17(5):595-600.

Netter, J. and W. Wasserman. 1974. Applied linear statistical models. Irwin, Inc., Homewood, IL.

Norberg, T.J. and D.I. Mount. 1985. A new fathead minnow (*Pimephales promelas*) subchronic toxicity test. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 4(5):711-718.

Nordstrom, D.K., L.N. Plummer, T.M.L. Wigley, T.J. Wolery, J.W. Ball, E.A. Jenne, R.I. Bassett, R.E. McDuff, F. Morel, M.M. Reddy, G. Sposito and J.Thrailkill. 1979. Comparison of computerized chemical models for

equilibrium calculations in aqueous systems. P. 857-892. In E.A. Jenne (Ed.) Chemical modeling in aqueous systems. ACS, Washington, D.C.

Nriagu, J.O. (Ed.) 1979. Copper in the Environment. Part I: Ecological Cycling; Part II: Health Effects. Wiley and Sons, Inc. New York, NY.

Nyholm, N. 1990. Expression of results from growth inhibition toxicity tests with algae. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 19(4):518-522.

O'Brien, P., H. Feldman, E.V. Grill and A.G. Lewis. 1988. Copper tolerance of the life history stages of the splashpool copepod *Tigriopus californicus* (Copepoda, Harpacticoida). Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 44(1):59-64.

O'Hara, J. 1971. Alterations in oxygen consumption by bluegills exposed to sublethal treatment with copper. Water Res. 5:321-327.

Oikari, A., J. Kukkonen and V. Virtanen. 1992. Acute toxicity of chemicals to *Daphnia magna* in humic waters. Sci. Total Environ. 117/188:367-377.

Okazaki, R.K. 1976. Copper toxicity in the Pacific oyster *Crassostrea gigas*. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 16:658-665.

Olson, K.R. and R.C. Harrel. 1973. Effect of salinity on acute toxicity of mercury, copper, and chromium for *Rangia cuneata* (Pelecypoda, Matridae). Contrib. Mar. Sci. 17:9-13.

Oris, J.T., R.W. Winner and M.V. Moore. 1991. A four-day survival and reproduction toxicity test for *Ceriodaphnia dubia*. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 10(2):217-224.

Ozoh, P.T.E. 1992a. The effects of salinity, temperature and sediment on the toxicity of copper to juvenile *Hediste* (Nereis) *diversicolor* (O.F. Muller). Environ. Monit. Assess. 21(1):1-10.

Ozoh, P.T.E. 1992b. The effect of temperature and salinity on copper body burden and copper toxicity to *Hediste* (Nereis) *diversicolor*. Environ. Monit. Assess. 21(1):11-17.

Ozoh, P.T.E. and N.V. Jones. 1990a. Capacity adaptation of *Hediste* (Nereis) *diversicolor* embryogenesis to salinity, temperature and copper. Mar. Environ. Res. 29(3):227-243.

Pagenkopf, G.K. 1983. Gill surface interaction model for trace-metal toxicity to fishes: Role of complexation, pH, and water hardness. Environ. Sci. Technol. 17:342-347.

Palawski, D., J.B. Hunn and F.J. Dwyer. 1985. Sensitivity of young striped bass to organic and inorganic contaminants in fresh and saline waters. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 114(5):748-753.

Paquin, P.R., D.M. Di Toro, R.C. Santore, D. Trivedi and K.B. Wu, April 1999. "A Biotic Ligand Model of the Acute Toxicity of Metals. III. Application to Fish and *Daphnia* Exposure to Silver," Section 3 in *Integrated Approach to Assessing the Bioavailability and Toxicity of Metals in Surface Waters and Sediments*, a submission to the EPA Science Advisory Board, Office of Water, Office of Research and Development, Washington, DC, pp. 3-59 to 3-102.

Paquin, P.R., J.W. Gorsuch, S. Apte, G.E. Batley, K.C. Bowles, P.G.C. Campbell, C.G. Delos, D.M. Di Toro, R.L.
Dwyer, F. Galvez, R.W. Gensemer, G.G. Goss, C. Hogstrand, C.R. Janssen, J.C. McGeer, R.B. Naddy, R.C. Playle,
R.C. Santore, U. Schneider, W.A. Stubblefield, C.M. Wood and K.B. Wu. 2002. The bitoic ligand model: A historical overview. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. Part C 133:3-35.

Pardue, W.J. and T.S. Wood. 1980. Baseline toxicity data for freshwater bryozoa exposed to copper, cadmium, chromium, and zinc. J. Tenn. Acad. Sci. 55:27.

Parker, J.G. 1984. The effects of selected chemicals and water quality on the marine polychaete *Ophryotrocha diadema*. Water Res. 18:865-868.

Parkhurst, D.F. 1998. Arithmetic versus geometric means for environmental concentration data. Environ. Sci. Technol./News. 32:92A-95A.

Parrott, J.L. and J.B. Sprague. 1993. Patterns in toxicity of sublethal mixtures of metals and organic chemicals determined by Microtox and by DNA, RNA, and protein content of fathead minnows (*Pimephales promelas*). Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 50(10):2245-2253.

Patterson, J.W., R.A. Minear, E. Gasca and C. Petropoulou. 1998. Industrial discharges of metals to water. In: H.E. Allen, A.W. Garrison and G.W. Luther III (Eds.). Metals in Surface Waters. Ann Arbor Press, Chelsea, MI. pp. 37-66.

Patrick, R. et al. 1968. The relative sensitivity of diatoms, snails, and fish to twenty common constituents of industrial wastes. Prog. Fish Cult. 30:137.

Paulson, P.C., J.R. Pratt and J. Cairns, Jr. 1983. Relationship of alkaline stress and acute copper toxicity in the snail *Goniobasis livescens* (Menke) Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 31(6):719-726.

Pearlmutter, N.L. and M.A. Buchheim. 1983. Copper susceptibility of three growth stages of the green alga *Haematococcus*. PB83-25678. National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA.

Perkins, E.J., B. Griffin, M. Hobbs, J. Gollon, L. Wolford and D. Schlenk. 1997. Sexual differences in mortality and sublethal stress in channel catfish following a 10-week exposure to copper sulfate. Aquat. Toxicol. 37(4):327-339.

Pesch, C.E. and G.L. Hoffman. 1982. Adaptation of the polychaete *Neathes arenaceodentata* to copper. Mar. Environ. Res. 6:307-317.

Pesch, C.E. and D. Morgan. 1978. Influence of sediment in copper toxicity tests with polychaete *Neanthes arenaceodentata*. Water Res. 12:747-751.

Pesch, C.E., P.S. Schauer and M.A. Balboni. 1986. Effect of diet on copper toxicity to *Neanthes arenaceodentata* (Annelida: Polychaeta). In: Aquatic toxicology and environmental fate. Eds?. ASTM STP 921. American Society of Testing Materials. Philadelphia, PA. pp. 369-383.

Pesch, G., N. Stewart and C. Pesch. 1979. Copper toxicity to the bay scallop (*Argopecten irradians*). Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 23:759-765.

Petersen, R. 1982. Influence of copper and zinc on the growth of a freshwater algae, *Scenedesmus quadricauda*: The significance of speciation. Environ. Sci. Technol. 16:443.

Pickering, Q.H., W. Brungs and M. Gast. 1977. Effect of exposure time and copper concentration on reproduction of the fathead minnow (*Pimephales promelas*). Water Res. 11:1079-1083.

Pickering, Q.H. and C. Henderson. 1966. The acute toxicity of some heavy metals to different species of warmwater fishes. Air Water Pollut. Int, J. 10:453-463.

Pickering, Q.H. and J.M. Lazorchak. 1995. Evaluation of the robustness of the fathead minnow, *Pimephales promelas*, larval survival and growth test, U.S. EPA method 1000.0. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 14(4):653-659.

Playle, R.C., D.G. Dixon and K. Burnison. 1993a. Copper and cadmium binding to fish gills: Estimates of metal-gill stability constants and modeling of metal accumulation. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 50(12):2678-2687.

Playle, R.C., D.G. Dixon and K. Burnison. 1993b. Copper and cadmium binding to fish gills: Modification by dissolved organic carbon and synthetic ligands. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 50(12):2667-2677.

Playle, R.C., R.W. Gensener and D.G. Dixon. 1992. Copper accumulation on gills of fathead minnows: Influence of water hardness, complexation and pH of the gill micro-environment. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 11(3):381-391.

Porta, A.A. and A.E. Ronco. 1993. Copper (II) acute toxicity to the rotifer *Brachionus calyciflorus*, as affected by fulvic acids of freshwater origin. Environ. Pollut. 82(3):263-267.

Pratt, J.R. and J.L. Rosenberger. 1993. Community change and ecosystem functional complexity: A microcosm study of copper toxicity. In: Environmental toxicology and risk assessment, 2nd Volume. ASTM STP 1216. American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, PA. 88-102.

Prothro, M. 1993. Memorandum concerning "Office of Water Policy and Technical Guidance on Interpretation and Implementation of Aquatic Life Metals Criteria." October 1.

Qureshi, S.A. and A.B. Saksena. 1980. The acute toxicity of some heavy metals to *Tilapia mossambica* (Peters). Aqua 1:19-20.

Rachlin, J.W. et al. 1982. The growth response of the green alga (*Chlorella saccharophila*) to selected concentrations of the heavy metals Cd, Cu, Pb, and Zn. In: Trace substances in environmental health-XVI. Hemphill, D.I. (Ed.). University of Missouri, Columbia, MO. p. 145.

Radetski, C.M., J.F. Ferard and C. Blaise. 1995. A systematic microplate-based phytotoxicity test. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 14(2):299-302.

Reader, J.P., N.C. Everall, M.D.J. Sayer and R. Morris. 1989. The effects of eight trace metals in acid soft water on survival, mineral uptake and skeletal calcium deposition in yolk-sac fry of brown trout, *Salmo trutta* L. J. Fish Biol. 35(2):187-198.

Reardon, I.S. and R.M. Harrell. 1990. Acute toxicity of formalin and copper sulfate to striped bass fingerlings held in varying salinities. Aquaculture 87(3-4):255-270.

Redpath, K.J. 1985. Growth inhibition and recovery in mussels (*Mytilus edulis*) exposed to low copper concentrations. J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. U.K. 65(2):421-431.

Redpath, K.J. and J. Davenport. 1988. The effect of copper, zinc and cadmium on the pumping rate of *Mytilus edulis* L. Aquat. Toxicol. 13(3):217-225.

Reeve, W.R. et al. 1976. A controlled environmental pollution experiment (CEPEX) and its usefulness in the study of larger marine zooplankton under toxic stress. In: Effects of pollutants on aquatic organisms. Lockwood, P.M. (Ed.). Cambridge University Press, New York, NY. p. 145.

Rehnberg, B.C. and C.B. Schreck. 1986. Acute metal toxicology of olfaction in coho salmon: Behavior, receptors, and odor-metal complexation. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 36(4):579-586.

Rehwoldt, R. et al. 1971. Acute toxicity of copper, nickel and zinc ions to some Hudson River fish species. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 6:445.

Rehwoldt, R. et al. 1972. The effect of increased temperature upon the acute toxicity of some heavy metal ions. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 8:91.

Reish, D.J. 1993. Effects of metals and organic compounds on survival and bioaccumulation in two species of marine gammaridean amphipod, together with a summary of toxicological research on this group. J. Nat. Hist. 27(4):781-794.

Rice, D.W., Jr. and F.L. Harrison. 1978. Copper sensitivity of Pacific herring, *Clupea harengus pallasi*, during its early life history. Fish. Bull. 76:347-356.

Rice, D.W., Jr. and F.L. Harrison. 1979. Copper sensitivity of the Northern Anchovy, *Engraulis mordax*, during its early life history. Fisheries Bull. 76(2):347-356.

Rice, D.W., Jr. and F.L. Harrison. 1983. The sensitivity of adult, embryonic, and larval crayfish *Procambaris clarkii* to copper. UCRL-53048. National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA.

Richards, V.L. and T.L. Beitinger. 1995. Reciprocal influences of temperature and copper on survival of fathead minnows, *Pimephales promelas*. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 55(2):230-6.

Richey, D. and D. Roseboom. 1978. Acute toxicity of copper to some fishes in high alkalinity water. PB 294923. National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA.

Ringwood, A.H. 1992. Comparative sensitivity of gametes and early developmental stages of a sea urchin species (*Echinometra mathaei*) and a bivalve species (*Isognomon californicum*) during metal exposures. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 22(3):288-295.

Robins, R.G., Berg, R.B., Dysinger, D.K., Duaime, T.E., Metesh, J.J., Diebold, F.E., Twidwell, L.G., Mitman, G.G., Chatham , W.H., Huang, H.H., Young, C.A. 1997. Chemical, physical and biological interactions at the Berkeley Pit, Butte, Montana. Tailings and Mine Waste 97. Bakeman, Rotterdam.

Rodgers, J.H. et al. 1980. Comparison of heavy metal interactions in acute and artificial stream bioassay techniques for the Asiatic clam (*Corbicula fluminen*). In: Aquatic toxicology. Eaton, J.G. et al. (Eds.). ASTM STP 707. American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, PA. p. 266.

Roesijadi, G. 1980. Influence of copper on the clam *Protothaca staminea*: Effects on gills and occurrence of copperbinding proteins. Biol. Bull. 158:233.

Rombough, P.J. 1985. The influence of the zona radiata on the toxicities of zinc, lead, mercury, copper and silver ions to embryos of steelhead trout *Salmo gairdneri*. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 82C(1):115-117.

Rosko, J.J. and J.W. Rachlin. 1975. The effect of copper, zinc, cobalt and manganese on the growth of the marine diatom *Nitzschia closterium*. Bull. Torrey Bot. Club 102:100-106.

Rosko, J.J. and J.W. Rachlin. 1977. The effect of cadmium, copper, mercury, zinc and lead on cell division, growth, and chlorophyll *a* content of the chlorophyte *Chlorella vulgaris*. Bull. Torrey Bot. Club 104:226-233.

Roux, D.J., P.L. Kempster, E. Truter and L. van der Merwe. 1993. Effect of cadmium and copper on survival and reproduction of *Daphnia pulex*. Water SA 19(4):269-274.

Rueter, J.G. 1983. Alkaline phosphatase inhibition by copper: Implications to phosphorus nutrition and use as a biochemical marker of toxicity. Limnol. Oceanogr. 28:743.

Rumbold, D.G. and S.C. Snedaker. 1997. Evaluation of bioassays to monitor surface microlayer toxicity in tropical marine waters. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 32(2):135-140.

SAIC. 1993. Toxicity testing to support the New York/New Jersey Harbor site-specific copper criteria study. Final Report to U.S. EPA, Office of Wastewater Enforcement and Compliance (Contract No. 68-C8-0066. Work Assignment C-4-94). Science Applications International Corporation, Narragansett, RI.

Saifullah, S.M. 1978. Inhibitory effects of copper on marine dinoflagellates. Mar. Biol. 44:299-308.

Samuelson, D.F. 1976. Water quality: Western Fish Toxicology Station and Western Oregon rivers. EPA-600/3-76-077. U.S. EPA, Duluth, MN.

Sanders, B.M., L.S. Martin, W.G. Nelson, D.K. Phelps and W. Welch. 1991. Relationships between accumulation of a 60 KDa stress protein and scope-for-growth in *Mytilus edulis* exposed to a range of copper concentrations. Mar. Environ. Res. 31:81-97.

Sandheinrich, M.B. and G.J. Atchison. 1989. Sublethal copper effects on bluegill, *Lepomis macrochirus*, foraging behavior. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 46(11):1977-85.

Santore, R.C., D.M. Di Toro and P.R. Paquin, H.E. Allen, and J.S. Meyer. 2001. "A Biotic Ligand Model of the Acute Toxicity of Metals. II. Application to Acute Copper Toxicity in Freshwater Fish and Daphnia," Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 20(10):2397-2402.

Santore, R.C. and C.T. Driscoll. 1995. The CHESS model for calculating chemical equilibria in soils and solutions. In: R.H. Loeppert, A.P. Schwab and S. Goldberg (Eds.). Chemical Equilibrium and Reaction Models. American Society of Agronomy, Madison, WI. pp. 357-375.

Sasikumar, N., A.S. Clare, D.J. Gerhart, D. Stover and D. Rittschof. 1995. Comparative toxicities of selected compounds to nauplii of *Balanus amphitrite* Darwin and *Artemia* sp. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 54(2):289-296.

Saucier, D. and L. Astic. 1995. Morpho-functional alterations in the olfactory system of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) and possible acclimation in response to long-lasting exposure to low copper levels. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 112A(2):273-84.

Saucier, D., L. Astic and P. Rioux. 1991a. The effects of early chronic exposure to sublethal copper on the olfactory discrimination of rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss*. Environ. Biol. Fishes 30(3):345-352.

Saucier, D., L. Astic, P. Rioux and F. Godinot. 1991b. Histopathological changes in the olfactory organ of rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss* induced by early chronic exposure to a sublethal copper concentration. Can. J. Zool. 69(8):2239-2245.

Sauter, S., K.S. Buxton, K.J. Macek and S.R. Petrocelli. 1976. Effects of exposure to heavy metals on selected freshwater fish. Toxicity of copper, cadmium, chromium and lead to eggs and fry of seven fish species. EPA-600/3-76-105. National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA.

Sayer, M.D.J., J.P. Reader and R. Morris. 1989. The effect of calcium concentration on the toxicity of copper, lead and zinc to yolk-sac fry of brown trout, *Salmo trutta* L., in soft, acid water. J. Fish Biol. 35(3):323-32.

Sayer, M.D.J., J.P. Reader and R. Morris. 1991a. Effects of six trace metals on calcium fluxes in brown trout (*Salmo trutta* L.) in soft water. J. Comp. Physiol. 161B(5):537-542.

Sayer, M.D.J., J.P. Reader and R. Morris. 1991b. Embryonic and larval development of brown trout, *Salmo trutta* L.: Exposure to aluminum, copper, lead or zinc in soft, acid water. J. Fish Biol. 38(3):431-455.

Sayer, M.D.J., J.P. Reader and R. Morris. 1991c. Embryonic and larval development of brown trout, *Salmo trutta* L.: Exposure to trace metal mixtures in soft water. J. Fish Biol. 38(5):773-787.

Schafer, H., A. Wentzel, U. Fritsche, G. Roderer and W. Trauspurger. 1993. Long-term effects of selected xenobiotica on freshwater green alga: Developmental of a flow-through test system. Sci. Total Environ. Suppl.:735-740.

Schubauer-Berigan, M.K., J.R. Dierkes, P.D. Monson and G.T. Ankley. 1993. pH-dependent toxicity of cadmium, copper, nickel, lead and zinc to *Ceriodaphnia dubia*, *Pimephales promelas*, *Hyalella azteca* and *Lumbriculus variegatus*. Environ. Toxciol. Chem. 12(7):1261-1266.

Scott, D.M. and C.W. Major. 1972. The effect of copper(II) on survival, respiration, and heart rate in the common blue mussel, *Mytilus edulis*. Biol. Bull. 143:679-688.

Scott, K.J. et al. Manuscript. Toxicological methods using the benthic amphipod *Ampelisca abdita* Mills. U.S. EPA, Narragansett, RI.

Scudder, B.C., J.L. Carter and H.V. Leland. 1988. Effects of copper on development of the fathead minnow, *Pimephales promelas* Rafinesque. Aquat. Toxicol. 12(2):107-124.

Seim, W.K., L.R. Curtis, S.W. Glenn and G.A. Chapman. 1984. Growth and survival of developing steelhead trout (*Salmo gairdneri*) continuously or intermittently exposed to copper. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 41(3):433-438.

Shaw, T.L. and V.W Brown. 1974. The toxicity of some forms of copper to rainbow trout. Water Res. 8:377-382.

Shazili, N.A.M. and D. Pascoe. 1986. Variable sensitivity of rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri*) eggs and alevins to heavy metals. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 36(3):468-474.

Shuster, C.N., Jr. and B.H. Pringle. 1968. Effects of trace metals on estuarine molluscs. In: Proceedings of the first Mid-Atlantic Industrial Waste Conference, November 13-15, 1967. Department of Civil Engineering, University of Delaware, Newark, DE. pp. 285-304.

Snell, T.W. 1991. New rotifer bioassays for aquatic toxicology. Final Report, U.S. Army Medical Research and Development Command, Ft. Detrick, Frederick, MD.

Snell, T.W. and B.D. Moffat. 1992. A 2-d life cycle test with the rotifer *Brachionus calyciflorus*. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 11(9):1249-1257.

Snell, T.W., B.D. Moffat, C. Janssen and G. Persoone. 1991a. Acute toxicity tests using rotifers. III. Effects of temperature, strain, and exposure time on the sensitivity of *Brachionus plicatilis*. Environ. Toxicol. Water Qual. 6(1):63-75.

Snell, T.W., B.D. Moffat, C. Janssen and G. Persoone. 1991b. Acute toxicity tests using rotifers. IV. Effects of cyst age, temperature, and salinity on the sensitivity of *Brachionus calyciflorus*. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Safety 21(3):308-317.

Snell, T.W. and G. Persoone. 1989a. Acute toxicity bioassays using rotifers. I. A test for brackish and marine environments with *Brachionus plicatilis*. Aquat. Toxicol. 14(1):65-80.

Snell, T.W. and G. Persoone. 1989b. Acute toxicity bioassays using rotifers. II. A freshwater test with *Brachionus rubens*. Aquat. Toxicol. 14(1):81-91.

Sosnowski, S.L. and J.H. Gentile. 1978. Toxicological comparison of natural and cultured populations of *Acartia tonsa* to cadmium, copper and mercury. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 35:1366.

Sosnowski, S.L., D.J. Germond and J.H. Gentile. 1979. The effect of nutrition on the response of field populations of the calanoid copepod *Acartia tonsa* to copper. Water Res. 13:449-452.

Spear, P. 1977. Copper accumulation kinetics and lethal tolerance in relation to fish size. M.S. Thesis. Concordia University, Montreal, Canada.

Spehar, R.L. and J.T. Fiandt. 1986. Acute and chronic effects of water quality criteria-based metal mixtures on three aquatic species. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 5(10):917-931.

Sprague, J.B. 1964. Lethal concentrations of copper and zinc for young Atlantic salmon. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 21:17.

Sprague, J.B. and B.A. Ramsay. 1965. Lethal levels of mixed copper-zinc solutions for juvenile salmon. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 22:425-432.

Stanley, R.A. 1974. Toxicity of heavy metals and salts to Eurasian water-milfoil (*Myriophyllum spicatum* L.). Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 2:331.

Staples, L.S., P.F. Shacklock and J.S. Craigie. 1995. Rapid growth of clones of the red alga *Chondrus crispus*: Applications in assays of toxic substances and in physiological studies. Mar. Biol. 122(3):471-477.

Starodub, M.E., P.T.S. Wong, C.I. Mayfield and Y.K. Chau. 1987. Influence of complexation and pH on individual and combined heavy metal toxicity to a freshwater green alga. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 44(6):1173-1180.

Stauber, J.L. and T.M. Florence. 1989. The effect of culture medium on metal toxicity to the marine diatom *Nitzschia closterium* and the freshwater green alga *Chlorella pyrenoidosa*. Water Res. 23(7):907-911.

Stebbing, A.R.D. 1976. The effects of low metal levels on a clonial hydroid. J. Mar. Biol. Assoc. U.K. 56:977.

Steele, C.W. 1983a. Comparison of the behavioral and acute toxicity of copper to sheepshead, Atlantic croaker and pinfish. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 14(11):425-428.

Steele, C.W. 1985. Latent behavioral toxicity of copper to sea catfish, *Arius felis*, and sheepshead, *Archosargus probatocephalus*. J. Fish Biol. 27(5):643-654.

Steele, C.W. 1989. Effects of sublethal exposure to copper on diel activity of sea catfish, *Arius felis*. Hydrobiologia. 178(2):135-141.

Steele, R.L. and G.B. Thursby. 1983. A toxicity test using life stages of *Champia parvula* (Rhodophyta). In: Aquatic toxicology and hazard assessment. Bishop, W.E. et al. (Eds.). ASTM STP 802. American Society for Testing and Materials. Philadelphia, PA. p. 73.

Steemann-Nielsen, E. and L. Kamp-Nielsen. 1970. Influence of deleterious concentrations of copper on the growth of *Chlorella pyrenoidosa*. Physiol. Plant. 23:828-840.

Steemann-Nielsen, E. and S. Wium-Andersen. 1970. Copper ions as poison in sea and in freshwater. Mar. Biol. 6:93.

Stephan, C.E. 1995. Derivation of conversation factors for the calculation of dissolved freshwater aquatic life criteria for metals. Report. March 11, 1995. U.S. EPA, Duluth, MN.

Stephan, C.E., D.I. Mount, D.J. Hansen, J.H. Gentile, G.A. Chapman and W.A. Brungs. 1985. Guidelines for deriving numerical national water quality criteria for the protection of aquatic organisms and their uses. PB85-227049. National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA.

Stephan, C.E., and J.W. Rogers. 1985. Advantages of Using Regression Analysis to Calculate Results of Chronic Toxicity Tests. In: Aquatic Toxicology and Hazard Assessment: Eighth Symposium. R.C. Bahner and D.J. Hansen, Eds. ASTM STP 891. American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, PA. Pp. 328-338.

St. Laurent, D., C. Blaise, P. MacQuarrie, R. Scroggins and B. Trottier. 1992. Comparative assessment of herbicide phytotoxicity to *Selenastrum capricornutum* using microplate and flask bioassay procedures. Environ. Toxicol. Water Qual. 7(1):35-48.

Stokes, P. and T.C. Hutchinson. 1976. Copper toxicity to phytoplankton, as affected by organic ligands, other cations and inherent tolerance of algae to copper. In: Toxicity to biota of metal forms in natural water. Andrew, R.W., P.V. Hodson and D.E. Konasewich. (Eds.) International Joint Commission, Duluth, MN. pp. 159-185.

Stouthart, X.J.H.X., J.L.M. Haans, R.A.C. Lock and S.E.W. Bonga. 1996. Effects of water pH on copper toxicity to early life stages of the common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*). Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 15(3):376-383.

Straus, D.L. and C.S. Tucker. 1993. Acute toxicity of copper sulfate and chelated copper to channel catfish *Ictalurus punctatus*. J. World Aquacul. Soc. 24(3):390-395.

Stromgren, T. 1986. The combined effect of copper and hydrocarbons on the length growth of *Mytilus edulis*. Mar. Environ. Res. 19:251-258.

Stromgren, T. and M.V. Nielsen. 1991. Spawning frequency, growth and mortality of *Mytilus edulis* larvae, exposed to copper and diesel oil. Aquat. Toxicol. 21(3-4):171-179.

Stumm, W. and J.T. Morgan. 1981. An introduction emphasizing chemical equilibria in natural waters. John Wiley and Sons Inc., New York, NY.

Suedel, B.C., E. Deaver and J.H. Rodgers, Jr. 1996. Experimental factors that may affect toxicity of aqueous and sediment bound copper to freshwater organisms. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 30(1):40-46.

Sullivan, B.K., E. Buskey, D.C. Miller and P.J. Ritacco. 1983. Effects of copper and cadmium on growth, swimming and predator avoidance in *Eurytemora affinis* (Copepoda). Mar. Biol. 77(3):299-306.

Sunda, W.G. and P.A. Gillespie. 1979. The response of a marine bacterium to cupric ion and its use to estimate cupric ion activity in seawater. Jour. Mar. Res. 37:761.

Sunda, W. and R.R.L. Guillard. 1976. The relationship between cupric ion activity and the toxicity of copper to phytoplankton. J. Mar. Res. 34:511-529.

Sunda, W.G. and P.J. Hansen, 1979, "Chemical Speciation of Copper in River Water: Effect of Total Copper, pH, Carbonate, and Dissolved Organic Matter," p. 147-180. In E.A. Jenne (Ed.)] *Chemical Modeling in Aqueous Systems*, ACS Symposium Series 93, ACS, Washington, DC.

Sunda, W.G. and J.M. Lewis. 1978. Effect of complexation by natural organic ligands on the toxicity of copper to a unicellular alga, *Monochrysis lutheri*. Limnol. Oceanogr. 23:870.

Sunila, I. 1986. Chronic histopathological effects of short-term copper and cadmium exposure on the gill of the mussel, *Mytilus edulis*. J. Invertebr. Pathol. 47(2):125-142.

Sunila, I. 1989. Cystic kidneys in copper exposed to mussels. Dis. Aquat. Org. 6:63-66.

Sunila, I. and R. Lindstrom. 1985. Survival, growth, and shell deformities of copper-exposed and cadmium-exposed mussels (*Mytilus edulis*) in brackish water. Estuarine Coastal Shelf Sci. 21(4):555-566.

Svecevicius, G. and M.Z. Vosyliene. 1996. Acute toxicity of copper to common freshwater fishes of Lithuania. Ekologija (2):17-21.

Swallow, K.C. et al. 1978. Potentiometric determination of copper complexation by phytoplankton exudates. Limnol. Oceanogr. 23:538.

Swedmark, M. and A. Granmo. 1981. Effects of mixtures of heavy metals and a sufactant on the development of cod (*Gadus morhua* L.). Rapp. P.V. Reun. Cons. Int. Explor. Mer. 178, pp. 95-103.

Taraldsen, J.E. and T.J. Norberg-King. 1990. New method for determining effluent toxicity using duckweed (*Lemna minor*). Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 9(6):761-767.

Tarzwell, C.M. and C. Henderson. 1960. Toxicity of less common metals to fishes. Ind. Wastes 5:12.

Taylor, R.M., G.D. Watson and M.A. Alikhan. 1995. Comparative sublethal and lethal acute toxicity of copper to the freshwater crayfish, *Cambarus robustus* (Cambaridae, Decapoda, Crustacea) from an acidic metal-contaminated lake and a circumneutral uncontaminated stream. Water Res. 29(2):401-408.

Thompson, K.W., A.C. Hendricks and J. Cairns, Jr. 1980. Acute toxicity of zinc and copper singly and in combination to the bluegill (*Lepomis macrochirus*). Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 25:122.

Tipping, E., 1994. "WHAM--A Chemical Equilibrium Model and Computer Code for Waters, Sediments, and Soils Incorporating a Discrete Site/Electrostatic Model of Ion-Binding by Humic Substances," *Computers and Geosciences*, 20(6): 973-1023.

ToxScan. 1991a. Results of provision E5F spiked metals toxicity testing 14 to 21 February 1991.. Prepared for Kinnetic Laboratories, Inc. for "Site-specific water quality objectives for South San Francisco Bay" report by Larry Walker Associates and Kinnetic Laboratories under subcontract to CH2M Hill.

ToxScan. 1991b. Results of provision E5F spiked metals toxicity testing 27 February to 6 March 1991. Prepared for Kinnetic Laboratories, Inc. for "Site-specific water quality objectives for South San Francisco Bay" report by Larry Walker Associates and Kinnetic Laboratories under subcontract to CH2M Hill.

ToxScan. 1991c. Results of provision E5F spiked metals toxicity testing 2 to 9 April 1991. Prepared for Kinnetic Laboratories, Inc. for "Site-specific water quality objectives for South San Francisco Bay" report by Larry Walker Associates and Kinnetic Laboratories under subcontract to CH2M Hill.

Trama, F.B. 1954. The acute toxicity of copper to the common bluegill *Lepomis macrochirus* Rafinesque. Notulae Naturae. 257:1-13.

Turbak, S.C., S.B. Olson and G.A McFeters. 1986. Comparison of algal assay systems for detecting waterborne herbicides and metals. Water Res. 20(1):91-96.

Turnbull, H., J.G. DeMann and R.F. Weston. 1954. Toxicity of various refinery materials to freshwater fish. Ind. Eng. Chem. 46:324-333.

U.S. EPA. 1980. Ambient water quality criteria for copper. EPA-440/4-80-036. National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA.

U.S. EPA. 1983a. Methods for chemical analysis of water and wastes. EPA-600/4-79-020. National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA.

U.S. EPA. 1983b. Water quality standards regulation. Federal Register 48:51400. November 8.

U.S. EPA. 1983c. Water quality standards handbook. Office of Water Regulations and Standards, Washington, D.C.

U.S. EPA. 1985. "Ambient Water Quality Criteria for Copper - 1984," Office of Water Regulations and Standards, Criteria and Standards Division, Washington, DC.

U.S. EPA. 1986. Quality Criteria for Water 1986. EPA 440/5-86-001. Office of Water, Regulation and Standards, Washington, DC.

U.S. EPA. 1988. Short-term methods for estimating the chronic toxicity of effluents and receiving waters to marine and estuarine organisms. EPA/600/4-87-028. National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA.

U.S. EPA. 1991. Technical support document for water quality-based toxics control. EPA-505/2-90-001. National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA.

U.S. EPA. 1992. Interim guidance on interpretation and implementation of aquatic life criteria for metals. Health and Ecological Criteria Division, Office of Science and Technology, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, District of Columbia, USA.

U.S. EPA. 1993. Methods for measuring the acute toxicity of effluents and receiving water to freshwater and marine organisms. Fourth Edition. EPA/600/4-90/027F. National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA.

U.S. EPA. 1994. Water quality standards handbook. 2nd Edition. EPA-823-B94-005b.National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA.

U.S. EPA. 1996. 1995 Updates: Water Quality Criteria Documents for the Protection of Aquatic Life in Ambient Water. Office of Water. EPA-820-B-96-001.

U.S. EPA. 1999. Integrated Approach to Assessing the Bioavailability and Toxicity of Metals in Surface Waters and Sediments, a report to the EPA Science Advisory Board, Office of Water, Office of Research and Development, Washington, DC, USEPA-822-E-99-001.

U.S. EPA. February 2000. An SAB Report: Review of the Biotic Ligand Model of the Acute Toxicity of Metals, prepared by the Ecological Processes and Effects Committee of the Science Advisory Board, EPA-SAB-EPEC-00-0006.

U.S. EPA. 2003. Estimation of Water Chemistry Parameters for Acute Copper Toxicity Tests. Office of Water, Office of Science and Technology, Health and Ecological Criteria Division. Washington, DC.

University of Wisconsin-Superior. 1995. Results of freshwater simulation tests concerning dissolved metal. Report. March 10, 1995. U.S. EPA, Duluth, MN.

van den Berg, C.M.G., P.T.S. Wong and Y.K. Chan. 1979. Measurement of complexing materials excreted from algae and their ability to ameliorate copper toxicity. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 36:901-905.

van Leeuwen, C.J., J.L. Buchner and H. van Dijk. 1988. Intermittent flow system for population toxicity studies demonstrated with *Daphnia* and copper. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 40(4):496-502.

Vasseur, P., P. Pandard and D. Burnel. 1988. Influence of some experimental factors to metal toxicity to *Selenastrum capricornutum*. Toxic. Assess. 3(3):331-343.

Vavilin, D.V., V.A. Polynov, D.N. Matorin and P.S. Venediktov. 1995. Sublethal concentrations of copper stimulate photosystem II: Photoinhibition of *Chlorella pyrenoidosa*. J. Plant Physiol. 146(5-6):609-614.

Verriopoulos, G. 1992. Effects of sublethal concentrations of zinc, chromium and copper on the marine copepods *Tisbe holothuriae* and *Acartia clausi*. In: Proceedings of the FAO/UNEP/IOC workshop on the biological effects of pollutants on marine organisms. Gabrielides, G.P. (Ed.). Malta, 10-14 Sept., 1991, UNEP, Athens, Greece, MAP Tech Rep. Ser. No. 69:265-275.

Walbridge, C.T. 1977. A flow-through testing procedure with duckweed (*Lemna minor* L.). EPA-600/3-77-108. National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA.

Wallen, I.E., W.C. Greer and R. Lasater. 1957. Toxicity to *Gambusia affinis* of certain pure chemicals in turbid waters. Sewage Ind. Wastes 29:695-711.

Wang, W. 1986. Toxicity tests of aquatic pollutants by using common duckweed. Environ. Pollut. 11B(1):1-14.

Wani, G.P. 1986. Toxicity of heavy metals to embryonic stages of *Cyprinus carpio* Communis Linn. Pollut. Res. 5(2):47-51.

Warnick, S.L. and H.L. Bell. 1969. The acute toxicity of some heavy metals to different species of aquatic insects. J. Water Pollut. Contr. Fed. 41:280-284.

Weber, C.I. and B.H. McFarland. 1981. Effects of copper on the periphyton of a small calcareous stream. In: Ecological assessments of effluent impacts on communities of indigenous aquatic organisms. Bates, J.M. and C.I. Weber (Eds.). ASTM STP 730. American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, PA. pp. 101-131.

Weber, R.E., A. De Zwaan and A. Bang. 1992. Interactive effects of ambient copper and anoxic, temperature and salinity stress on survival and hemolymph and muscle tissue osmotic effectors in *Mytilus edulis*. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 159(2):135-156.

Wellborn, T.L., Jr. 1969. The toxicity of nine therapeutic and herbicidal compounds to striped bass. Prog. Fish Cult. 31:27-32.

Welsh, P.G. 1996. Influence of dissolved organic carbon on the speciation, bioavailability and toxicity of metals to aquatic biota in soft water lakes. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Waterloo. Waterloo, Ontario, Canada.

Welsh, P.G. Lipton, J. Chapman, G.A. Podrabsky, T.L. 2000. Relative importance of calcium and magnesium in hardness-based modification of copper toxicity. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 19(6):1624-1631.

Welsh, P.G., J.L. Parrott, D.G. Dixon, P.V. Hodson, D.J. Spry and G. Mierle. 1996. Estimating acute copper toxicity to larval fathead minnow (*Pimephales promelas*) in soft water from measurements of dissolved organic carbon, calcium, and pH. Can. J. Fish Aquat. Sci. 53(6):1263-1271.

Welsh, P.G., J.F. Skidmore, D.J. Spry, D.G. Dixon, P.V. Hodson, N.J. Hutchinson and B.E. Hickie. 1993. Effect of pH and dissolved organic carbon on the toxicity of copper to larval fathead minnow (*Pimephales promelas*) in natural lake waters of low alkalinity. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 50(7):1356-1362.

West, C.W., V.R. Mattson, E.N. Leonard, G.L. Phipps and G.T. Ankley. 1993. Comparison of the relative sensitivity of three benthic invertebrates to copper-contaminated sediments from the Keweenaw Waterway. Hydrobiol. 262(1):57-63.

Williams, P.L. and D.B. Dusenbery. 1990. Aquatic toxicity testing using the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 9(10):1285-1290.

Wilson, R.C.H. 1972. Prediction of copper toxicity in receiving waters. J. Fish Res. Board Can. 29:1500-1502.

Wilson, W.B. and L.R. Freeberg. 1980. Toxicity of metals to marine phytoplankton cultures. EPA-600/3/80/025 or PB80-182843. National Technical Information Services. Springfield, VA.

Winner, R.W. 1984b. The toxicity and bioaccumulation of cadmium and copper as affected by humic acid. Aquat. Toxicol. 5(3):267-274.

Winner, R.W. 1985. Bioaccumulation and toxicity of copper as affected by interactions between humic acid and water hardness. Water Res. 19(4):449-455.

Winner, R.W. and M.P. Farrell. 1976. Acute and chronic toxicity of copper to four species of *Daphnia*. J. Fish. Res. Board Can. 33:1685-1691.

Winner, R.W. and H.A. Owen. 1991a. Seasonal variability in the sensitivity of freshwater phytoplankton communities to a chronic copper stress. Aquat. Toxicol. 19(2):73-88.

Winner, R.W. and H.A. Owen. 1991b. Toxicity of copper to *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* (Chlorophyceae) and *Ceriodaphnia dubia* (Crustacea) in relation to changes in water chemistry of a freshwater pond. Aquat. Toxicol. 21(3-4):157-169.

Woodward, D.F., J.N. Goldstein, A.M. Farag and W.G. Brumbaugh. 1997. Cutthroat trout avoidance of metals and conditions characteristic of a mining waste site: Coeur d'Alene River, Idaho. Trans. Am. Fish. Soc. 126(4):699-706.

Wright, D.A. 1988. Dose-related toxicity of copper and cadmium in striped bass larvae from the Chesapeake Bay: Field considerations. Water Sci. Technol. 20(6/7):39-48.

Wurtz, C.B. and C.H. Bridges. 1961. Preliminary results from macroinvertebrate bioassays. Proc. Pennsylvania Acad. Sci. 35:51.

Young, J.S., R.L. Buschbom, J.M. Gurtisen and S.P. Joyce. 1979. Effects of copper on the sabellid polychaete, *Eudistylia vancouveri*: I. Concentration limits for copper accumulation. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 8:97.

Young, R.G. and D.J. Lisk. 1972. Effect of copper and silver ions on algae. J. Water Pollut. Control Fed. 44:1643.

Young, L.G. and L. Nelson. 1974. The effect of heavy metal ions on the motility of sea urchin spermatozoa. Biol. Bull. 147:236-246.

Zaroogian, G.E. and M. Johnson. 1983. Copper accumulation in the bay scallop, *Argopecten irradians*. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 12:127-133.

Zitko, P., W.V. Carson and W.G. Carson. 1973. Prediction of incipient lethal levels of copper to juvenile Atlantic salmon in the presence of humic acid by cupric electrode. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 10:265-271.

Zuiderveen, J.A. and W.J. Birge. 1997. The relationship between chronic values in toxicity tests with *Ceriodaphnia dubia*. In: Environmental toxicology and risk assessment: Modeling and risk assessment. ASTM STP 1317. Dwyer, F.J., T.R. Doane and M.L. Hinmang (Eds.). American Society for Testing and Materials, Philadelphia, PA. pp. 551-556.

Appendices

Appendix A. Ranges in Calibration and Application Data Sets

Appendix B. Biotic Ligand Model (BLM) User's Guide

Appendix C. Other Data on Effects of Copper on Freshwater and Saltwater Organisms

Appendix D. Estimation of Water Chemistry Parameters for Acute Copper Toxicity Tests Appendix E. Saltwater Conversion Factors for Dissolved Values

Appendix F. BLM Input Data and Notes

Appendix G. Hardness Slopes

Appendix H. Regression Plots

Appendix I. Unused Data